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BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
BOARD OF AIRPORT COMMISSIONERS

1200 Airport Drive, South Burlington, Vermont
Conference Room #1
Tuesday, January 17, 2017 3:00pm

CALLTO ORDER

AGENDA

CONSENT AGENDA

3.1

Approval of Minutes: November 28, 2016

PUBLIC FORUM

FINANCIAL PACKAGE (Documents/Verbal - M. Friedman)

ACTION NEEDED:

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6

Hudson News Lease Revised Amendment

Enterprise Rent-A-Car Property Lease — 700 Airport Parkway

AIP Property Leases — Kirby Cottages On Lily Lane

Engineering Contract — Stantec — Rotating Beacon Project

Property Lease — 3090 Williston Road, Advance Towing & Repair, LLC
Board of Airport Commissioners Policy File, Adoption

COMMUNICATION/DISCUSSION:

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8
7.9

Construction Update Report (Document/Verbal - A. Clayton)

Marketing Update (Document/Verbal - S. Losier)

Passenger and Operational Statistics (Document)

Fare Comparisons With New Cost Estimate Calculator (Document - S. Losier)

Green Mountain Transit Authority Bus Route to Airport (Verbal — Losier/Longo)

Food Service Provider in Airport Terminal (Verbal — N. Longo)

Chamber of Commerce Welcome Center Status (Verbal — N. Longo)

December 5, 2016 Sound Mitigation Committee Meeting Update (Verbal — N. Longo)
Airport Commissioners Status List (Document)

DIRECTOR’S REPORT (Verbal)

COMMISSIONERS’ ITEMS

ADJOURNMENT-Tentative: Next Meeting- Tuesday, February 21 3:00 pm, Conference Room 1



MINUTES SUBJECT TO CORRECTION BY THE BOARD OF AIRPORT COMMISSIONERS. CHANGES, IF ANY, WILL
BE RECORDED IN THE MINUTES OF THE NEXT MEETING OF THE COMMISSION.

BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
BOARD OF AIRPORT COMMISSIONERS
MINUTES OF MEETING
November 28, 2016
DRAFT
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Jeff Munger (Chairman)
Bill Keogh
Alan Newman
Pat Nowak
Jeff Schulman
BTV STAFF PRESENT:  Gene Richards, Director of Aviation
Nic Longo, Director of Planning and Development
Marie Friedman, Airport CFO
Amanda Clayton, Director of Engineering &
Environmental Compliance
Kelly Colling, Director of Operations
Rick Brown, Director of Maintenance
Shelby Losier, Administrative Assistant
Alex Gyles, intern
OTHERS PRESENT: Erin Desautels, Vermont Small Business Acceleration
Dave Stiller, Heritage Aviation
Kate Jickling, Seven Days

1.0 CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Jeff Munger called the meeting to order at 3:08 PM on November 28, 2016.

2.0 AGENDA

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Pat Nowak, to approve the agenda with the
addition of a report on the 11/14/16 South Burlington City Council meeting (Item
7.1.2) and an inquiry on direct bus service from the Burlington Transit Center to
the airport (Item 7.1.3). VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

3.0 CONSENT AGENDA

3.1 Approval of Minutes: October 14, 2016

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Jeff Schulman, to approve the consent
agenda including the minutes of October 14, 2016 as presented. VOTING:
unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

4.0 PUBLIC FORUM
None.

50 FINANCIAL PACKAGE
Marie Friedman highlighted:
e Revenues are at 20% of budget (on par with previous year).
e Parking revenue is up $10,000 from July-Sept. and trending in the right direction.
Average occupancy is 60%. The Localvore promotion for parking is being done.
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The new system to operate the garage will be in place next year and should make
a difference.

e Expenditures are at 20% of budget.

e Property taxes decreased due to the settlement with South Burlington.

e Debt coverage ratio is 2.71 at this time. Debt coverage score at the end of the year
IS expected to be 1.5.

e AIP receivable is approximately $3 million as of September 30™". Since July $2.3
million has been expended on AIP projects and $1.7 million collected in the first
three months of the fiscal year. The airport has used $1.5 million of the grant
anticipation note which will be paid back as AIP money is received.

e As of September 30" $300,000 was owed to pooled cash, but the airport had $1.5
million in the international account.

e The audit report is expected in December.

e Airlines at the airport are in the process of signing leases.

e Moody’s will do a review of the airport in December.

There was discussion of increasing use of the parking garage and generating more
revenue by renting space to businesses and organizations. Gene Richards stated car
dealerships, organizations, businesses, the hospital and colleges in the area have all been
contacted about using the garage.

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to accept the financial
package and place the information on file. VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion
carried.

6.0 ACTION NEEDED

6.1 Environmental Testing for Former Fuel Farm

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Jeff Schulman, to approve and recommend

to City Council for approval environmental testing for the former fuel farm.
DISCUSSION: Amanda Clayton reported the airport is in the process of
attaining a SMAC (Site Management Activity Completed designation) for the
fuel farm that is no longer in use. The bid estimate is based on the scope of
work. The process is reimbursable by the state petroleum cleanup fund after
the deductible is paid which the airport has paid. The airport must do the
work first and then be reimbursed. Pat Nowak asked about any potential
impact on South Burlington. Amanda Clayton assured any plumes from the
fuel are well within airport property. Ms. Clayton will set up a meeting with
Pat Nowak to discuss the results of the testing and monitoring of the fuel
farm. There were no further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.2 Janitorial RFP Award/Contract
MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Pat Nowak, to approve and recommend to
City Council for approval the janitorial contract with JaniTech.
DISCUSSION: Nic Longo briefly reviewed the bid ranking process following
by the airport and reported six bids were received for the janitorial contract.
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The lowest responsible bid was JaniTech. The contract is a 2% decrease

from the current contract and includes a livable wage and integrating Global

employees as much as possible. Global was the prior contractor for nine

years and did an outstanding job. There were no further comments.
VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.3 South Hangar RFP Award/Lease

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Pat Nowak, to approve and recommend to

City Council for approval the south hangar lease with Mansfield Heliflight.
DISCUSSION: Bill Keogh suggested the name of the person who wrote the
memo be on the memo, not just the word “staff”. Nic Longo showed the
location of the hangar previously occupied by Commute Air. Mansfield
Heliflight will be the master tenant of the building and retain the sub-tenants
(general aviation tenants). Mansfield Heliflight will do a commercial air
charter, flight instruction, improvements/maintenance, and have spare parts.
Bill Keogh and Alan Newman questioned why the Airport Commission is
approved a draft contract. Gene Richards explained the contract has been
reviewed by the City Attorney’s Office, but not reviewed by the bidder’s
attorney a yet. Any substantial changes to the contract would be brought
back to the Airport Commission. There were no further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.4 Hudson News Lease Amendment

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to approve and recommend

to City Council for approval the lease amendment for Hudson News.
DISCUSSION: Nic Longo reported the lease amendment includes an
increase in the length of term from three years to 10 years with a minimum
annual guarantee increase of 3% every other year. Alan Newman questioned
why there is not an annual escalator. Gene Richards explained Hudson News
installed $1 million in infrastructure at the airport and made concessions
early on (such as having 50% of merchandise be Vermont products), but
there can be further discussion with Hudson News about the annual increase.
Pat Nowak asked if requiring that half the products be Vermont products
could be problematic in the future with post-TSA shopping (i.e. exclusivity
issues). Gene Richards pointed out sales increased when Vermont products
were added so all are benefitting. Alan Newman asked about the square
footage costs. Nic Longo said the concession does not pay by the square
footage, only a minimum annual guarantee (MAG).

MOTION TO TABLE by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to table action

on the Hudson News lease amendment until the January meeting. VOTING:
unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.5 Airline Lease Agreement
MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Jeff Schulman, to approve and recommend
to City Council for approval the airline lease agreement.

DISCUSSION: The following comments were made:
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¢ Bill Keogh commended staff on the superb job with the airline
contract. Gene Richards stated Joe McNeil did an outstanding job
with the negotiations.

e Bill Keogh asked if the document on airport rules and regulations
referred to in the contract exists. Gene Richards said the reference is
at a legal level.

e Bill Keogh asked if the airport can limit the number of flights and
timing of the flights per the agreement. Gene Richards said the FAA
sets the rules. Flights out of Burlington leave at an early hour and
arrive at a later hour in order to make connections with other flights
elsewhere.

e Bill Keogh asked about the impact on the budget by the lease. Marie
Friedman explained with the lease the airport has stability with the
airlines. If an airline leaves the allocation in the lease spreads to the
remaining carriers. Moody’s and Fitch feel it is the gold standard for
airlines and airports to have leases.

e Pat Nowak asked if the lease terms influenced Allegiant’s decision to
leave the airport. Gene Richards confirmed Allegiant did not want to
sign the lease and a non-signatory airline pays more. Allegiant offers
low fares because they do not have leases at airports.

e Bill Keogh mentioned the Airport Commission not being involved in
any of the lease discussions. Gene Richards pointed out the Airport
Commission was kept informed. Staff worked hard to get the best deal
possible.

e Jeff Schulman and Alan Newman concurred staff kept the Airport
Commission informed and provided more detail when asked.

There were no further comments.
VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.6. Property Lease

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to approve and recommend

to City Council for approve the property lease with Main Street Property Services.
DISCUSSION: Gene Richards said Main Street Property Services is leasing
the former office space occupied by the airport administration (1,900 s.f. at
$20/s.f.). There were no further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

6.7 Greyhound Terminal Rental

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to approve and recommend

to City Council for approval terminal rental by Greyhound.
DISCUSSION: Nic Longo reported the term with Greyhound is five years
which is consistent with the car rentals. The same counter space will be used.
Better customer service and staffing is required in the lease. There were no
further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.
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6.8 Aviatron, Inc. Lease Agreement

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to approve and recommend

to City Council for approval the Aviatron, Inc. lease agreement.
DISCUSSION: Nic Longo explained the term of the lease with Aviatron for
the 15,000 s.f. building at $10/s.f. is extended five years with a CPI or 3%
escalator whichever is higher. There were no further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

7.0 COMMUNICATION/DISCUSSION

7.1 Airport Commission Policy File

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Pat Nowak, to consider the Airport

Commission Policy File and put the item on the next agenda for approval.
DISCUSSION: Bill Keogh reviewed the document that includes charter
language for the Airport Commission as an advisory board, meeting
parameters, election of officers, minutes, and rules/policies. Pat Nowak
suggested outlining guidance on public participation. Gene Richards said the
City Attorney will review the document. Changes can be discussed at the
next meeting. There were no further comments.

VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.

7.1.2 Report on 11/14/16 South Burlington City Council Meeting

Gene Richards reported the challenges continue in working with South Burlington
Administration. Nicolas Longo and Gene Richards had a meeting with Kevin Dorn and
Helen Riehle and information was not passed along to City Council Members, City Staff,
and Community Members. The airport has been in existence for 100 years and has helped
in South Burlington’s successes, as well as provide significant support of the tax base.
The airport is working hard to meet needs, but must abide by what the FAA mandates.
This message does not appear to be heard. Gene Richards reiterated at this meeting that
the program is and always has been voluntary. Gene Richards reaffirmed his commitment
to work with South Burlington and the neighbors on all issues, while continuing to
remain transparent in the process.

Pat Nowak said the South Burlington City Assessor has been invited to a city council
meeting to discuss valuations. There could be an effect from noise, but there is demand
especially in the price range of the houses under discussion. House values have not gone
down, but are competitive or to the plus side. Ms. Nowak said she will meet with Kevin
Dorn and Helen Riehle to talk about the collaborative relationship with the airport and
moving forward.

7.1.3 Inquiry on Direct Bus Service Burlington Transit Center to Airport
MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Alan Newman, to direct staff to investigate
the feasibility of having direct transit service to the airport funded by GMT or
shared funding with the airport, and report at the next meeting.
DISCUSSION: Pat Nowak suggested staff ask GMT about the Bridj bus
service. There were no further comments.
VOTING: unanimous (5-0); motion carried.
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7.2 Construction Update
Amanda Clayton reported:
e The glycol project will be done by Christmas.
e The airport beacon must be updated by May 2017 per the FAA inspection. Cost
estimate is $200,000. Staff is researching possible locations for the new beacon.
e Air Guard project has started demolition of Taxiway Foxtrot.

7.3 Marketing Update and 7.4 Fare Comparison
Shelby Losier highlighted:
e A Localvore coupon for parking is being offered (buy one day of parking and get
a second free). A portion of the proceeds will go to Spectrum Youth Center.
e The website is being reorganized to be more user friendly and decluttered.
e Some staff members attended the Williston Rotary meeting which was very
positive.
e The committee working on the 2020 airport centennial celebration held their first
meeting.
e Flash Mob Step In Vermont performed at the airport.
e The airport hosted weddings, the Lund prom, Alzheimer’s Association gathering,
and a drone seminar.
e Two wishes have been granted through Make-A-Wish.

7.4 Passenger and Operational Statistics

Nic Longo reported passenger enplanements show a 3.6% increase over the last fiscal
year (YTD) mainly due to main line service and larger aircraft. Enplanements are
trending up nationally.

7.5 Fare Comparison with New Cost Estimate Calculator
Shelby Losier reported on average fares are $20 more expensive to drive and fly out of
Manchester or Boston.

7.6 Updated Property Inventory
Nic Longo said the inventory of properties owned by the airport is updated each month.

8.0 AVIATION DIRECTOR’S REPORT
Gene Richards reported:

e The Rotary meeting in Williston was very positive. Rotary members spoke highly
of the value of the airport even though the town bears the brunt of all incoming
flights overhead.

e March 4" is Allegiant’s last flight. Allegiant chose not to sign the lease with the
airport like the other airlines.

e All airlines at the airport have signed the lease.

e Attendees at the first meeting of the airport 100 year committee offered
astounding knowledge and history of the airport. The committee is off to a good
start.
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e Master Electrician, Corey Jewell, who unexpected passed away had vast historical
electrical knowledge of the airport. It will be difficult to fill the position so a
hybrid approach will be used with contract master electricians and airport
employees.

e JetBlue will hold a one hour dream flight and party on December 6™ for 50
children from Kamp-Ta-Kum Ta, Ronald McDonald House, and Children’s
Hospital. Heritage is providing the fuel and de-icing. Vermont Teddy Bear,
Turtlefur, and Photobooth are all donors.

9.0 AIRPORT COMMISSIONERS’ ITEMS

Jeff Munger asked about the status of the RFP for ground transportation at the airport
because the taxi drivers are feeling they are not getting any help. Gene Richards said
staff is working on the RFP and did not anticipate how long the QTA is taking. Resources
from the QTA were to be used for the Director of Transportation position.

10.0 ADJOURNMENT

Next meeting(s):

December 5, 2016 — Sound Mitigation Meeting
December 14, 206 — Land Use/Re-use Public Meeting
January 17, 2017 — Airport Commission meeting, 3 PM
February 21, 2017 — Airport Commission meeting, 3 PM

MOTION by Bill Keogh, SECOND by Jeff Munger, to adjourn the meeting.
VOTING: unanimous (4-0)[Alan Newman not present for vote]; motion carried.

The meeting was adjourned at 5:32 PM.
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SIS, Budget Performance Report
2 . Fiscal Year to Date 11/30/15
Only Show Rollup Account and Rollup to Account

Adopted Budget Amended YTD FY 2016 YTD Remaining % used/
Account Account Description Budget Amendments Budget Encumbrances Transactions Balance Rec'd

Fund 400 - Airport

REVENUE
4247 Fees and Permits 104,850.00 .00 104,850.00 .00 44,835.00 60,015.00 43%
4267 Utility Reimbursement 46,967.00 .00 46,967.00 .00 18,128.77 28,838.23 39%
4275 Rent & Lease .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 00 +++
4295 Parking Fees 5,825,000.00 .00 5,825,000.00 .00 2,211,875.12 3,613,124.88 38%
4297 CFC's 1,180,000.00 .00 1,180,000.00 .00 666,660.00 513,340.00 56%
4345 Advertising Revenues 118,000.00 .00 118,000.00 .00 85,359.25 32,640.75 72%
4390 Concessions 260,000.00 .00 260,000.00 .00 118,891.36 141,108.64 46%
4440 Taxi Fees 46,900.00 .00 46,900.00 .00 61,014.00 (14,114.00) 130%
4445 Terminal Rent - Exclusive 1,127,147.00 .00 1,127,147.00 .00 565,027.34 562,119.66 S0%
4450 Terminal Rent - Commonuse 1,467,928.00 .00 1,467,928.00 .00 611,636.66 856,291.34 42%
4455 Terminal Concessions Airport 525,200.00 .00 525,200.00 .00 285,561.07 239,638.93 54%
4460 Rental Car Concessions 1,777,468.00 .00 1,777,468.00 .00 1,124,974.50 652,493.50 63%
4465 Rent Grounds - 380,774.00 .00 380,774.00 .00 145,022.23 235,751.77 38%
4470 Rent Buildings 1,204,998.00 .00 1,204,998.00 .00 543,789.56 661,208.44 45%
4475 Landing Fees 1,825,884.00 .00 1,825,884.00 .00 735,405.07 1,090,478.93 40%
4480 PFC Revenue 2,400,000.00 .00 2,400,000.00 .00 813,334.75 1,586,665.25 34%
4500 Airport Apron Fees .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 et
4505 Terminal Non Airline 575,061.00 .00 575,061.00 .00 248,888.19 326,172.81 43%
4535 Misc Rev 3,000.00 .00 3,000.00 .00 1,178.09 1,821.91 35%
4600 Fees For Services .00 .00 .00 .00 3,719.00 (3,719.00) +++
4700 Interest / Investment Income 33,500.00 .00 33,500.00 .00 1,777.38 31,722.62 5%
4702 Interest Income PFC 4,000.00 .00 4,000.00 .00 1,351.93 2,648.07 34%
4703 Restricted Interest Income .00 .00 .00 .00 17,033.16 (17,033.16) +++
4705 Unrealzd Gain/Loss-Invest .00 .00 .00 .00 (7,686.86) 7,686.86 +++
4750 Gain/Loss On Asset .00 .00 .00 .00 17,898.70 (17,898.70) +++
4825 Interdepartmental .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 +++
4850 Cash Over .00 .00 .00 .00 1,183.51 (1,183.51) +++
4900 Participant Charges .00 .00 .00 .00 00 .00 ++4+
4961 Property Tax Reimbursement - Airport 208,000.00 .00 208,000.00 .00 143,742.14 64,257.86 69%
REVENUE TQTALS $19,114,677.00 $0.00 $19,114,677.00 $0.00 $8,460,599.92  $10,654,077.08 4%
EXPENSE

5000 Salaries and Wages 2,356,815.00 .00 2,356,815.00 .00 883,996.15 1,472,818.85 38%
5100 Overtime 225,000.00 .00 225,000.00 .00 70,085.63 154,914.37 31%
5200 Other Personal Service 167,415.00 .00 167,415.00 .00 33,525.20 133,889.80 20%
5400 Employee Benefits 1,246,199,00 .00 1,246,199.00 .00 400,973.95 845,225.05 32%
6000 Office Supplies 14,000.00 .00 14,000.00 116.60 2,249.59 11,633.81 16%
6005 Postage 1,500.00 .00 1,500.00 14.93 463.35 1,021.72 31%
6007 Shipping and Moving 6,000.00 .00 6,000.00 .00 1,106.47 4,893.53 18%
6010 Computer Equipment 45,560.00 .00 45,560.00 94.63 4,139.95 41,325.42 9%
6015 Computer Software 62,500.00 .00 62,500.00 .00 .00 62,500.00 0%
6017 Computer Licensing and Maint. 17,000.00 18,000.00 35,000.00 342.04 19,089.33 15,568.63 55%
6020 Office Equipment 5,000.00 .00 5,000.00 .00 650.00 4,350.00 13%
6025 Furnishings 5,000.00 .00 5,000.00 .00 .00 5,000.00 0%
6200 Medical Fees And Supplies 2,500.00 .00 2,500.00 .00 839.18 1,660.82 34%
6202 Printing/Copying/Paper Mgt 2,500.00 .00 2,500.00 .00 370.01 2,129.99 15%
6203 Dues/Subscriptions 86,000.00 .00 86,000.00 11,514.52 55,740.23 18,745.25 65%
6205 Cash Short .00 .00 .00 .00 4,194.25 (4,194.25) +++
6206 Custodian Supplies 65,000.00 .00 65,000.00 .00 26,981.04 38,018.96 42%
6208 Special Supplies 14,000.00 .00 14,000.00 58.00 5,438.97 8,503.03 39%

Page 2
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Fiscal Year to Date 11/30/15

Only Show Rollup Account and Rollup to Account

Adopted Budget Amended YTD YTD Remaining % used/

Account Account Description Budget Amendments Budget Encumbrances Transactions Balance Rec'd
6210 Small Tools and Equipment 18,000.00 .00 18,000.00 1,229.85 10,413.32 6,356.83 58%
6211 Specialized Equipment .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 +++
6212 Fuel 174,000.00 .00 174,000.00 88,976.30 11,023.70 74,000.00 6%
6214 Clothing And Uniforms 11,000.00 .00 11,000.00 .00 851.89 10,148.11 8%
6215 Uniform Laundering 22,000.00 .00 22,000.00 6,375.66 7,624.34 8,000.00 35%
6216 Oil & Grease & Antifreeze 40,000.00 .00 40,000.00 .00 6,928.50 33,071.50 17%
6222 Runway De-Ice 200,000.00 00 200,000.00 100,000,00 .00 100,000.00 0%
6300 Repair & Maintenance 826,500.00 49,000.00 875,500.00 147,766.41 245,010.56 482,723.03 28%
6350 Legal Notice & Advertising 3,000.00 .00 3,000.00 .00 .00 3,000.00 0%
6400 Utilities 1,560,000.00 .00 1,560,000.00 425.00 378,174.60 1,181,400.40 24%
6500 Professional and Consultant Services 1,142,000.00 .00 1,142,000.00 62,589.98 338,216.17 741,193.85 30%
6600 Maintenance Contracts 300,000.00 (18,000.00) 282,000.00 137,336.06 77,266.41 67,397.53 27%
6605 Radio Maintenance 20,000.00 .00 20,000.00 3,038.00 3,200.50 13,761.50 16%
6610 Custodial Contracts : 682,000.00 .00 682,000.00 55,125.00 275,625.00 351,250.00 40%
6615 Property Repairs 200,000.00 .00 200,000.00 19,200.00 17,000.00 163,800.00 9%
6620 Contractual Vehicle Repair 22,000.00 .00 22,000.00 94.99 2,489.28 19,415.73 11%
6625 Equipment Maintenance Repairs 150,000.00 .00 150,000.00 7,320.69 44,186.44 98,492.87 29%
6700 Travel & Training 98,000.00 .00 98,000.00 .00 11,143.52 86,856.48 11%
6800 Fees for Services 35,000.00 .00 35,000.00 1,026.00 16,105.57 17,868.43 46%
7000 Bad Debt Expense 2,000.00 .00 2,000.00 .00 108.00 1,892.00 5%
7002 Interest Expense .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 +++
7004 Interest Expense - Restricted .00 .00 .00 .00 4,066.53 (4,066.53) +++
7010 Depreciation Expense .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 +++
7200 Capital Leases 373,000.00 .00 373,000.00 2,025,00 3,980.80 366,994.20 1%
7230 Insurance 243,641.00 .00 243,641.00 .00 145,672.73 97,968.27 60%
7303 Regulatory and Bank Fees 120,000.00 .00 120,000.00 .00 61,432.04 58,567.96 51%
7312 Real Estate Taxes 1,553,000.00 .00 1,553,000.00 6,144,90 647,083.35 899,771.75 42%
8005 Vehicle/Equipment Repairs 00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 +++
8015 Indirect Fees 343,605.00 .00 343,605.00 .00 143,169.40 200,435.60 42%
8016 Risk Management 9,000.00 .00 9,000.00 .00 .00 9,000.00 0%
8017 Indirect Fees - City Attorney 9,923.00 .00 9,923.00 .00 4,135.00 5,788.00 42%
8018 Management Fee - Parking Garge 674,225.00 .00 674,225.00 .00 234,326.26 439,898.74 35%
8035 FAA - Alrport Security .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 .00 4+
8095 Interest On Pooled Cash 34,000.00 .00 34,000.00 .00 3,516.46 30,483.54 10%
8135 Alrport Security To Palice 1,014,000.00 .00 1,014,000.00 .00 422,500.00 591,500.00 2%
OPERATING EXPENSE TOTALS $14,201,883.00 $49,000.00  $14,250,883.00 $650,814.56 $4625,093.67  $8,974,974.77  37%

OPERATING PROFIT

Page 3

$3,835,506.25
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BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

w’ﬁsa‘;‘«?ﬁ%’w
SRR ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
P =5
et isE AIP PROJECTS
R S AS of December 31, 2016
ety
TOTAL % OF
A/R PROJECT PROJECT REIMBURSE- AR
BALANCE EXPENSES GRANT EXPENSES MENTS BALANCE
NW FUND AIP # PROJECT DESCRIPTION 06/30/16 FY 2017 % FY 2017 FY 2017 09/30/16
403 109 |LAND ACQUISITION 17 - 385,428 96 % 370,011 - 370,011
404 87 LAND ACQUISITION 2011 3,344 (3,344) -
405 84 LAND ACQUISITION 2010 phase 2 1,015 (1,015)
407 88 LAND 2011B 59,248 1,352 98% 1,324.96 - 60,573
409 81 LAND 2010 PROPERTIES 67,115 - 98% - 67,115
426 78 LAND 2010 NOISE 1,991 98% (1,991) 0
430 91 PART 150 NEM UPDATE 3,342 96 % - - 3,342
432 92 LAND 2012 NOISE 76,044 263,283 96% 252,751.68 (297,304) 31,492
433 94 LAND 2012 B NOISE 60,713 30,825 96% 29,592 - 90,305
436 97 DESIGN UPDATE SECURITY 64,386 96% - - 64,386
437 98 LAND 1998 321 (321) 0
439 100 |AIR CARRIER APRON PHASE 1 34,318 96% - - 34,318
440 101 |SECURITY SYSTEM UPDATE 189,036 1,521 96% 1,460 - 190,496
442 105 |LAND ACQUISITION FY 15 221,002 94,542 96 % 90,760 (215,605) 96,157
443 106 |GLYCOL PROJECT 258,142 1,417,466 96% 1,360,767 (1,474,767) 144,142
444 103 |AIR CARRIER APRON PHASE I1 220,738 53,950 96% 51,792 - 272,530
+
445 104 |TAXIWAY K CONSTRUCTION 820,135 934,851 96% 897,457 (1,582,001) 135,591
446 108 |LAND ACQUISITION 2016 14,664 1,301,008 96% 1,248,968 (763,563) 500,068
447 TAXIWAY ALPHA CONSTRUCTION 88,348 73,877 96% 70,922 - 159,270
448 TAXIWAY GULF CONSTRUCTION 138,179 162,568 96% 156,065 - 294,244
449 107 |AIR CARRIER APRON PHASE 3 61,862 21,165 96% 20,318 (70,463) 11,718
TOTALS 2,383,944 | § 4,741,836 $ 4,552,190 | $ (4,410,379)| $ 2,525,759




Burlington International Airport

Cash and Investments
December 31, 2016

Account Account Description Balance
1000_400 Bank Account Airport 1,958,937
1000_415 Bank Account Airport - Prepaid Cash Acct TD 488,404
1000_420 Bank Account CFC 3,719,875
1000_474 Cash Restricted Burl Arpt 2014 A Debt Serv. Res 1,419,064
1050_400 Cash Restricted Air Debt Service Fund 1,904,770
1050_420 Cash Restricted Escrows - Airport PFC TD Bank 2,633,710
1050_425 Cash Restricted Escrows - Airport - Op Maint Res 3,298,886
1050_430 Cash Restricted Esc - Airport Res Acct - TD Bank 216,518
1050_487 Cash Restricted Airport Debt Service Res. 2012 A 1,648,748
1050_488 Cash Restricted Airport Debt Service Res. 2012 B 650,420
1050_496 Cash Restricted AIP Deposit Keybank + 28,306
1050_495 Projects Operating Acct/Escrow GAN Keybank -
Total Cash and Investments 17,867,638

1100_999 (Due To) / Due From Pooled Cash (169,977)

Page 7




To:

From:

Date:

Re:

Airport Commissioners
Marie Friedman, CPA
January 13, 2017

Financial Highlights for January 17th 2017 commission meeting

Revenues are at 43% of budget, which is slightly less than 1 year ago.

Parking revenues are up approximately $36,000 compared to November Year to date, 2015.
Monthly revenues were higher than the prior year for September, October and November.
Other revenues are very similar to last year, and what we expect.

Expenditures are at 38% of budget. Very similar to spending from last year.

Debt Coverage score is currently at 2.27 compared 2.54 last year. The score always trend higher
at the beginning of our fiscal. )

The AIP receivable is $2,525,759 as of December 31, 2016. BTV has expended $4,741,836 in AIP
projects this Fiscal Year. BTV has collected $4,410,374 in the first 5 months of this year, with
multiple requests into the FAA currently waiting for reimbursement. BTV owes Keybank
$884,716 on the Grant Anticipation Note as of December 31%.

Cash update: BTV owes the City $169,977 for pooled cash as of December 31st. BTV also had
$1,958,937 in the Airport International account at December 31"

The Airport Audit was completed and issued on December 21, 2016. The Airport had a good
audit with no findings. Our Final Debt Coverage score for Fiscal Year 2016 was 1.67, which was
an improvement over any prior years. An audit is attached.

BTV Days Cash on Hand is 230. Attached is a chart showing Days cash on Hand since FY 2010.
BTV has gone from 1 day cash on hand to 230. This is significant and will be viewed favorable by
the rating agencies.

BTV has received signed from American, Delta and Jet Blue. United is expected to sign any day.
Budget 2018 planning is beginning



€8'€€E  [TVE  [8IE  S8OE 1862  S9'8C 198png Ajiea

LYE'CT 80S‘ZT  TE9'TT 6SC'TT  0880T  9Sr'oT sasuadx3 Sunjesado
Sb6°‘s 018y €8Y'E 90L‘t 009 ST Yse) paidllisaiun pue saAlasay [eloL
STC STC ST¢C G1¢ & = 9AJI9SDY JudwIde|day pue jemausy
88C'¢t GST'E T0T'E [AAA" 5 5 9NIBS3Y N B O
e ovv'T L9TS 009S ysed paroulsalun

%%%%%%I
TR A e e =
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ACCOUNTANTS + AUDITORS

MELANSON|gIFNE3
40

102 Perimeter Road

Nashua, NH 03063
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (603)882-1111

melansonheath.com

To the Board of Commissioners Additional Offices:
Burlington International Airport Andover, MA

. : Greenfield, MA
City of Burlington, Vermont RRanchESTE

Ellsworth, ME

Report on the Financial Statements

" We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Airport Enterprise Fund of the
City of Burlington, Vermont (the Fund) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, as
listed in the Table of Contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Fund’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.



As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Fund and do not purport to, and
do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Burlington, Vermont as of June 30, 2016
and 2015, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the Fund of the City of Burlington, Vermont as of June 30,
2016 and 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis, the Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability,
and the Schedule of Contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the infor-
mation and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with evidence sufficient to express
an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 21, 2016 on our consideration of the Fund's internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

December 21, 2016



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Within this section of the Burlington International Airport’s annual financial report, management
provides a narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities for the year ended June 30,
2016. The Airport’s performance is discussed and analyzed within the context of the accom-
panying financial statements and note disclosures following this section.

Overview of the Financial Statements:

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the basic financial state-
ments. The basic financial statements include (1) the statement of net position, (2) the statement
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, (3) the statement of cash flows, and (4) notes
to financial statements.

The Statement of Net Position is designed to indicate our financial position as of a specific point
in time. At June 30, 2016, it shows our net position of $131,313,359, a change of $6,681,077 in
comparison to the prior year.

The largest portion of net position, $113,903,269, reflects our net investment in capital assets
(e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those
assets that is still outstanding. This portion of net position increased $4,319,564 from the
prior year primarily from the acquisition of capital assets from AIP Grants less depreciation
expense exceeding the debt service principal payment during the fiscal year.

An additional portion of net position, $13,347,517, (restricted net position) represents
resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. This portion of

net position increased $1,104,218 from the prior year primarily from the increase in restricted
PFC balance.

The remaining balance of unrestricted net position was $4,062,573. This portion of net
position increased $1,257,295 from the prior year from a variety of reasons including
principal debt service payment being less than asset depreciation (which reduced net
investment in capital assets, as noted above, and increased unrestricted net positon) and
operations.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position summarize our operating
results and reveals how much, if any, of a profit was eamed for the year. As discussed in more
detail below, our change in net position for June 30, 2016 was $6,681,077. There are two
significant components of this increase. The first is the net loss before capital contributions of
$(954,420) which is primarily due to the Airport recognizing depreciation expense (not funded
with rates and charges assessed) in excess of the principal debt service payments (funded with
rates and charges). The second component is the recognition of the capital contributions received
from the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the State of Vermont for capital improve-
ment of $7,635,497. Collectively, these two components account for the net increase in Net
Position.



The Statement of Cash Flows provides information about cash receipts and cash payments
during the accounting period. It also provides information about investing and financing
activities for the same period. A review of our Statement of Cash Flows indicates that cash
receipts from operating activities adequately covered our operating expenses in fiscal year 2016.

Financial Highlights:

The following is a summary of condensed financial data for the current and prior fiscal years.

Summary of Net Position (000s)

2016 015 201
Assets:
Current and other assets $§ 23000 §$§ 19908 § 18313
Capital assets . 153,755 150,781 , 149,764
Total assets 176,755 170,689 168,077
Deferred outflows of resources 1,279 803 -
Total assets and deferred $ 178,034 § 171,492 § 168,077
outflows of resources
Liabilities:
Current liabilities $ 5015 § 3905 § 4,122
Long term debt 41,706 42,803 44,302
Total liabilities 46,721 46,708 48,424
Deferred inflows of resources - 152 -
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 113,903 109,584 105,762
Restricted 13,347 12,243 12,944
Unrestricted 4,063 2,805 947
Total net position 131,313 124,632 119,653
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and net position $ 178,034 § 171492 § 168,077



Summary of Changes in Net Position (000s)

2016 2015 2014
Operating revenues $§ 16303 § 16640 $ 16,208
Operating expenses (18,044) (17,811) (18,857)
Operating (loss) (1,741) (1,171) (2,649)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Other revenue 3,046 3,182 2,947
Other expense (2,259) (2,966) (2,402)
Total nonoperating revenues 787 216 545
Net income (loss) before capital contributions (954) (955) (2,104)
Capital.contributions - grant 7,635 . 6,508 7,126
Capital contributions - other - - 454
Total capital contributions 7,635 6,508 7,580
Change in net position 6,681 5,553 5,476
Beginning net position, as restated 124,632 119,079 * 114,177
Ending net position $ 131313 § 124632 $§ 119,653

* July 1, 2014 net position was restated for GASB 68, while prior periods were not restated. See Note 22.

Operating revenues changed by $(336,889) in 2016, a decrease of 2%. Reasons for this change
can be found in the Revenues section of this MD&A.

Operating expenses changed by $233,378 in 2016, an increase of 1.3%. This change is attributed
to the GASB 68 effect on pension expense.

Capital Assets:
Capital Assets - Net capital assets changed by $2,973,291 in 2016. This change is primarily the
difference between current year additions, net of $8,901,933 and annual depreciation expense of

$5,928,642.

Additional information on capital assets can be found in the Footnotes to the Financial
Statements.

Long-term Debt:
Long-term Debt - At the end of the current fiscal year, total bonded debt outstanding, including

unamortized premiums, was $38,557,769, all of which was backed by the full faith and credit of
the government.

Additional information on long-term debt can be found in the Notes to the Financial Statements.



Historical Airport Operating and Financial Performance

The City accounts for the financial operations of the Airport as an Enterprise Fund. On an annual
basis, the Airport has historically generated Revenues sufficient to pay its Operating Expenses, to
meet its Bond Debt Service and to fund a portion of its capital expenses. In Fiscal Years 2011
through 2016, the Airport satisfied its Rate Covenant under the Resolution. The Rate Covenant
requires the Airport to generate annual Revenues, net of Operating Expenses, of no less than 1.25
times Debt Service, and sufficient to meet all funding requirements for the Funds and Accounts
under the Resolution. The City has paid all Bond Debt Service and capital lease obligations
timely and in full. See “Recent Financial Performance” herein.

Revenues

The Airport derives its Revenues from a variety of sources, including terminal revenues, parking,
landing fees, car rentals, concessions and rentals of buildings and grounds. It has also applied for
and been granted permission by the FAA to charge and collect PFCs for qualified capital

expenditures and certain debt service.

The following table shows each of these revenue items since fiscal year 2012:

Historical Revenues (000s) Fiscal Year Ended June 30
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Airline Revenues

Terminal Revenues § 2069 § 2,114 § 2237 § 2447 § 2619

Landing Fee Revenues 1,769 1,623 1,501 1,630 1,671
Total Airline Revenues 3,838 3,737 3,738 4,077 4,290
Non-Airlines Revenues

Parking Lot/Garage 7,050 5,870 5,894 5,742 5,407

Car Rental Concessions 1,738 1,868 2,119 2,114 1,911

Terminal & Airfield Concessions 623 - - - -

Terminal Concessions - 469 657 670 654

Terminal Non-Airline Rent - 510 538 578 580

Building and Ground Rent 1,000 1,223 1,247 1,329 1,274

Other Non-Airline Revenues 793 798 748 919 958
Total Non-Airline Operating Revenues 11,204 10,738 11,203 11,352 10,784
CFC Revenues ' - 1,155 1,267 1,211 1,229
Total Operating Revenues $ 15,042 $ 15630 $ 16,208 $ 16,640 $ 16,303
Y-O-Y Operating revenue Growth 3.9% 3.7% 2.7% -2.0%
PFC Revenues $ 2694 § 2285 § 2586 $ 2391 § 2,321

! Prior to FY 2013, CFC Revenues were included as part of Parking Lot/Garage Revenues



Terminal Revenues and Landing Fees

Terminal revenues and landing fees are paid by the airlines that operate at the Airport. Such fees
are calculated pursuant to an Airport Use Agreement. The Airport has established five airport
cost centers in order to fairly allocate Airport operating costs among the airlines and other
tenants. The Airport’s management completed negotiations with the Airlines in the Fall of 2016.
As of the audit report date, several Airlines have signed agreements. The Airport expects all
major airlines to sign the new five year contract. The new Airport Use Agreement, which is a
residual method contract, outlines the airline rates and charges methodology which are in effect
through June 30, 2021.

In Fiscal Year 2016, airline rates and charges increased 5.3% from the prior year. The Airport for
Fiscal Year 2016 increased the terminal rents and landing fees by approximately $213,000, due
to the rate increase. Terminal and landing fee revenue represented approximately 26% of the
Airport’s total Revenue in Fiscal Year 2016.

Parking

The City has made substantial investments since 2009 to expand parking capacity and to connect
the north garage to the Airport with an enclosed second story walkway.

Current parking fees in the garage are $12 per day. Parking revenues represented approximately
33% of the Airport’s total Operating Revenue in Fiscal Year 2016, with a decrease of 6% from
the previous year.

Car Rental Facilities

Car rental revenues represented approximately 12% of the Airport’s total Revenue in Fiscal Year
2016. Car Rental revenues decreased 9% from the previous year. Car rental facilities occupy
office and counter space within the terminal building adjacent to the luggage receiving area.
Over the past six years, collectively, the car rentals have had a minimum annual revenue
guarantee (MAG) of approximately $1.7 million per year, but the rental car companies have
generated more revenue than the guaranteed minimum. In Fiscal Year 2016, the rental car
companies generated Revenues to the airport approximately $194,000 above the MAG, while in
Fiscal Year 2015 revenues were approximately $335,000 above MAG. In the fall of 2015, the
Airport finalized car rental concession agreements with Avis/Budget, Hertz, Dollar, Enterprise,
National/Alamo, which are in effect through June 30, 2020.

In addition to terminal space, the rental car companies also occupy the second floor north of the
parking garage and an onsite car wash facility immediately north of the FAA Control Tower. The
Airport imposes a $4 per day CFC on each car rental transaction, which resulted in approx-
imately $1.2 million in revenue during Fiscal Year 2016. Approximately half of the collected
CFCs are utilized to support the Debt Service allocable to the parking garage expansion and
operating expenses of the garage per the car rental agreements. The City has allocated the other
half of the CFC charges collected to design costs and future construction of a consolidated car
wash/return facility to replace the existing facility. This new facility will also provide the airport
with an opportunity for an additional revenue stream in the form of land lease and potentially
transactions fees once it is constructed.



Terminal Concessions

Terminal concessions, such as food vendors Skinny Pancake, and gift/necessities vendors, such
as Hudson News and other similar establishments, provide a variety of services for passengers,
visitors and employees at the Airport. Skinny Pancake, a local restaurant with three locations at
the Airport, and newly expanded Hudson News facilities opened in Fiscal Year 2013. Food
concession revenues exceeded expectations for Fiscal Year 2016.

Terminal concession revenues represented approximately 4% or $653,500 of the Airport’s total
Revenue in Fiscal Year 2016. The Airport realized concession revenue growth during Fiscal Year
2014 and these revenues remained strong and stable during Fiscal Year 2015 and 2016.

Buildings, Grounds and Airfield Concession Revenues

Building and ground rent and airfield concession revenues (“Other Non-Airline Revenues™)
include revenue from certain parcels within the existing Airport footprint that have been rented to
firms such as Federal Express, Pratt & Whitney, and Heritage, as well as hangar and facility
rentals from cooperatives using the Airport for general aviation.

Buildings, grounds and airfield concession revenues represented approximately 12% of the
Airport’s total Revenue in Fiscal Year 2016. During Fiscal Year 2016, these revenues remained
stable from Fiscal Year 2015.

Other Revenue

Other Revenues include a federal operating grant, interest income, administrative fees and tenant
reimbursements. The tenant reimbursement component relates to property tax and casualty
insurance assessments. Changes to this miscellaneous income are primarily affected by fees
assessed by third party agencies.

Passenger Facility Charges

The Airport has applied for and received authorization from the FAA to impose and collect PFCs to
fund many of the capital improvements it has initiated since 1997. Currently, the Airport receives
approximately $2.3 million annually in PFC revenues, of which approximately $1.1 million are
used to pay that portion of Bond Debt Service attributable to authorized PFC projects.

As of June 30, 2016, the Airport had approximately $2.6 million on deposit in the PFC Revenue
Account, which is adequate to pay for the PFC projects being financed with Airport Revenue
Bonds. The Airport expects to continue to apply for authority to impose and collect PFCs for
future projects under applicable FAA regulations.

Expenses

The Airport’s expenses include typical expense categories covering airport operations. One expense
that is not paid for by the Airport is the Aircraft Rescue and Fire Fighting services that are
provided by the VT Air National Guard (VTANG) as part of its lease with the Airport, saving the
Airport approximately $2.5 million annually.



Salaries and benefits increased 7% from Fiscal Year 2015 to Fiscal Year 2016, which is primarily
because of benefit cost increases (approx. 5%) and approximately 2% from COLA increases.
Service contracts represent third party maintenance and other non-capital projects. The City
interdepartmental expenses are the amounts reimbursed by the Airport to the City for financial,
legal and other necessary services the City provides to support the operations of the Airport. The
City and Airport implemented a requirement that all purchases require a purchase order, and this
is tracked within the accounting software package. The new purchase order requirement is
intended to ensure that no expense is over the budgeted plan.

Recent Financial Performance

Airport Net Revenue was determined to have been above the Rate Covenant requirement of
1.25% of Debt Service in Fiscal Years 2011 through 2016. Debt Service, Operation and
Maintenance expenses and other obligations of the Airport were fully and timely paid in each of
those years. ’

The financial health and performance of the Airport is taken very seriously by the City, the
Airport Commission and Airport management. Significant attention has been devoted to
improving the Airport’s financial operations in the past several years, including increasing non-
airline dependent revenues and maintaining debt service coverage in accordance with the
requirements of the Resolution.

The Airport finalized negotiations with the Airlines in the Fall of 2016. The City of Burlington
City Council unanimously approved a resolution on December 12, 2016 granting the Director of
Aviation authority to execute Airline Lease agreement with the Airlines. The Airline’s most
recent lease was executed in 1996. This new agreement calls for the terms to commence as of
July 1, 2016, and continue for 5 years. The Airline lease sets the precedent for the methodology
used to establish rates and charges, including landing fees, apron fees, and terminal rental rates.
This basic methodology is referred to as a residual calculation giving greater risk to the airlines,
while providing a sustainable financial future for the airport.

In future Fiscal Years, as was done in Fiscal Years 2011-2016, the Airport expects to employ a
portion of its PFC revenues in its coverage calculations, consistent with current FAA regulations
as to the use of these revenues. In Fiscal Year 2016, the City continued to hold Airport funds in
segregated accounts and use such Revenues only for Airport purposes, including reimbursing the
City for shared services and for payroll, payables and capital expenditure draws covered by the
City on an interim basis, in accordance with FAA regulations. PFC Revenues will continue to be
deposited to a segregated PFC fund and used exclusively for projects approved for their use by
the FAA, including the payment of debt service allocable to such projects.

The City and the Airport are continuing to carefully review any opportunity to increase revenues
and decrease expenses. The Airport continually evaluates smart ways to increase non-airline
revenues to help balance rates and charges billed to the Airlines. All expiring leases are being
viewed as opportunities to improve the facility and increase rental revenue. The Airport also is
continuing to request reimbursement (through the PFC program) for certain local matching
amounts that the City contributed to the FAA approved projects. The local AIP share equals
approximately $124,000 in Fiscal Year 2016.



It is the goal of these initiatives to (i) provide additional transparency in the handling of Airport
funds; (ii) ensure timely and proactive responses to any unusual or unexpected financial events
with respect to the Airport; and (iii) achieve Debt Service coverage well in excess of the
Resolution’s mandate of 125% of Debt Service. The new Airline Lease agreement, currently out
for signatures, negotiated into the agreement that the airport debt coverage ratio will be 150% of
Debt Service. If the Airport debt coverage ratio exceeds 150% at year end, starting with Fiscal
Year 2017, a credit will be issued back to the Airlines. If the Airport has less than 200 days cash
on hand, only 50% of any overpayments will be due back to the airlines.

We believe this presentation tells our most accurate success story from fiscal years 2012 through
2016.

Rate Covenant Calculation Fiscal Year Ended June 30
From FY 2012 to 2016 (000s)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Revenues $ 15080 $ 15890 § 16,382 $ 16,933 § 16,677
O&M Expenses (as defined) 11,259 11,731 12,508 12,347 12,376
Net Revenues (as defined) Si $ #9__ $ _3.874 $ 4386 3 4301
PFC Revenues Available for DS $ 1939 § 1938 § 1,291 § 1,284 § 1,087
Funds Available for DS $ 5760 $ 6,097 § 5165 $ 5870 § 5,388
25% PFC Revenue for DS coverage 485 485 323 321 272
Adjusted funds Available for DS $ _6.245 § _6582 §_ 5488 § _6191 % 3,660
Debt Service $ 4195 § 4268 § 3402 § 3956 $ 3,386
Debt Service Coverage 137 143 1.52 1.48 1.59
Adjusted Debt Service Coverage 1.49 1.54 1.61 1.56 1.67
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Liquidity

The following table reflects changes to the Fund’s Liquidity since fiscal year 2012:

Liquidity Position (000s) Fiscal Year Ended June 30

Cash and Investment balances 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Unrestricted cash' $ 19 § 167 § 1440 § 2442 § 4271
O&M Reserve 1,472 3,101 3,155 3,288 3,295
Renewal and Replacement Reserve 215 215 215 215 216
PFCs’ 2,498 1,967 1,242 1,955 2,685
PFC Rolling Coverage 485 485 486 487 488
Debt Service Reserve Fund « 4,600 4,351 4,047 3,740 3,782
Bond Debt Service Reserve’ 3,453 2,846 3,798 2,558 2,882
BAN Reserve 388 - - - -
Grant Anticipation Note Reserve 500 300 - - -
Total cash and investments $ 13630 $§ 13432 § 14383 § 14,685 $ 17,619

' At 6/30/16, includes $3,038 in CFC Funds intended to be used for additional RAC facilities and $679
in contributions for a potential new Aviation Tech Center. At June 30, 2015, includes $2,276 in
CFC Funds, and $679 in contributions for a potential new Aviation Tech Center.

2 As a result of fiscal year 2015 refunding, our debt service requirements decreased, thereby providing
Jor an increase in our year-end PFC cash position.

’ Represents 1/6 Interest and 1/12 Principal Payments

The current year increase in cash and investments of $2,933,037 is primarily due to an increase
of $1,828,819 in unrestricted cash and an increase of $730,965 in PFC reserves. Increase in
unrestricted cash partly relates to timing of payments made to vendors (current year accounts
payable is higher than prior year) and the current year use of the line of credit for AIP related
expenses drawn on prior to grant reimbursement.

Bond Rating Changes
On November 12, 2014, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded to Baa3 from BA1 Burlington

Airport’s Revenue bonds, and assigned a Baa3 rating to the upcoming series 2014A bonds. The
rating was maintained by Moody’s on December 11, 2015.
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION:

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Burlington Airport
Enterprise Fund’s finances for all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to:
Office of Clerk/Treasurer
City of Burlington, City Hall
149 Church Street

Burlington, VT 05401
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

2016 2015
ASSETS
Current:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,271,079 2,442 260
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 1,382,747 1,217,605
Intergovernmental receivables 2,634,698 2,543,938
Unbilled receivables 312,480 322,534
Inventory 247,544 266,194
Due from Burlington Community Development Corp. 70,007 67,941
Accrued interest receivable - 15
Total current assets 8,918,555 6,860,487
Noncurrent:
Restricted cash for passenger facility charges (PFC) 2,685,078 1,955,129
Restricted cash for prepaid cash reserve (PFC) 487,792 486,776
Restricted cash for R&R reserve fund 216,247 215,764
Restricted cash for debt service reserve 1,217,999 1,515,851
Restricted cash for bond debt service fund 2,881,487 2,558,285
Restricted cash for O&M reserve fund 3,294,755 3,287,966
Restricted investment for debt service reserve 2,564,159 2,223,528
Due from Burlington Community Development Corp. 734,084 804,091
Land and construction in progress 56,119,246 58,087,086
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 97,635,505 92,694,374
Total noncurrent assets 167,836,352 163,828,850
TOTAL ASSETS 176,754,907 170,689,337
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related:
Changes in proportional share of contributions 712,624 521,592
Difference between actual and expected experience 102,628 -
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 193,578 -
Deferred current year pension contributions 270,003 281,375
TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,278,833 802,967
TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES $ 178,033,740 171,492,304
(continued)
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2016

(continued)

LIABILITIES
Current:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Accrued interest
Line of credit
Current portion of capital leases payable
Current portion of revenue bonds payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent:
Capital leases payable, net of current portion
Revenue bonds payable, net of current portion
Accrued employee compensated absences
Other post-employment benefits
Net pension liability

Total noncurrent liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related:

Difference between projected and actual
investment earnings

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION

2016 2015

2,082,976 § 1,587,993
61,870 87,561
1,384,957 1,331,516
837,762 897,879

+646,602 -
154,786 150,798
2,198,155 1,842,077
7,367,108 5,897,824
492,324 647,110
36,359,614 38,557,770
192,783 200,047
139,084 126,442
2,169,468 1,278,506
39,353,273 40,809,875
46,720,381 46,707,699
- 152,323
113,903,269 109,583,705
13,347,517 12,243,299
4,062,573 2,805,278
131,313,359 124,632,282
178,033,740 § 171,492,304

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

2016 015
Operating Revenues:
Charges for services $ 16,148,693 § 16,494,977
Intergovernmental 154,266 144,871
Total Operating Revenues 16,302,959 16,639,848
Operating Expenses:
Personnel costs 4,106,060 3,677,473
Non-personnel costs 8,009,403 8,323,633
Depreciation 5,928,642 5,809,621
Total Operating Expenses 18,044,105 17,810,727
Operating Loss (1,741,146) (1,170,879)
Other Income (Expenses):
Passenger facility charges 2,321,431 2,390,880
Interest income 80,386 54,186
Amortization of bond premium 192,077 350,422
Interest expense and fiscal charges (1,709,619) (2,478,256)
Building rent 352,769 327,614
Building rental expenses (549,408) (488,206)
Gain on sale of asset 29,149 18,174
Other income 69,941 41,257
Total Other Income (Expenses) 786,726 216,071
Net Loss Before Capital Contributions (954,420) (954,808)
Capital contributions - AIP Grants 7,635,497 6,508,327
Change in Net Position 6,681,077 5,553,519
Net Position at Beginning of Year, as restated 124,632,282 119,078,763
Net Position at End of Year $ 131,313,359 $§ 124,632,282

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

2016 2015
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from customers and users $ 16,116,987 $ 16,433,013
Receipts of operating grants 154,266 144,871
Other building rents 352,769 327,614
Payments to suppliers (7,509,186} (8,574,044)
Payments for wages and benefits (3,850,185) (3,564,240)
Other building expenses . (549,408) (488,206)
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 4,715,243 4,279,008
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
Interest paid on cash deficit to general fund (4,077) (21,979)
Loan payments from Burlington Community Development Corporation 67,956 65,941
Net Cash Provided By Noncapital Financing Activities 63,879 43,962
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of refunding debt - 15,660,000
Proceeds from premium - 1,906,637
Payment to defease revenue bond - (17,580,000)
Payment of bond issuance costs - 615,177)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (8,908,219) (6,826,833)
Proceeds from sale of assets 35,434 -
Capital grants 7,544,737 5,290,570
Passenger facility charges 2,321,431 2,390,880
Drawdowns on line of credit 1,017,925 -
Repayment of line of credit (371,323) -
Principal paid on revenue bonds (1,650,000) (2,160,000)
Principal paid on capital leases (150,798) (280,521)
Interest paid on revenue bond (1,675,525) (1,810,292)
Interest paid on other debt (90,134) (50,293)
Net Cash (Used For) Capital and Related Financing Activities (1,926,472) (4,075,029)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Increase (decrease) in restricted cash and investments (1,104,219) 700,306
Receipt of interest and dividends 80,388 54,186
Net Cash Provided By (Used For) Investing Activities (1,023,831) 754,492
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,828,819 1,002,433
Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 2,442,260 1,439,827
Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 4271079 § 2,442,260
(continued)
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015

(continued)
2016 2015
Reconciliation of Operating L.oss to Net Cash
Provided By Operating Activities:
Operating loss $ (1,741,146) §  (1,170,879)
Depreciation 5,928,642 5,809,621
Other building rents 352,769 327,614
Other income 69,941 59,431
Other building expenses ’ (549,408) (488,206)
Changes in:
Receivables (165,142) (161,947)
Unbilled revenues 10,054 32,283
Inventories 18,650 (15,656)
Prepaids - 4,583
Deferred outflows of resources, pension related (475,866) (591,088)
Accounts payable 494,982 (236,730)
Accrued salaries and wages (12,276) 32,505
Post employment benefits 12,642 23,000
Accrued compensated absences (7,264) 3,746
Accrued liabilities (13,415) (2,608)
Unearned revenue 53,441 8,269
Net pension liability 890,962 492,747
Deferred inflows of resources, pension related (152,323) 152,323
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities § 4715243 § 4,279,008

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1.

CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT
AIRPORT ENTERPRISE FUND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. The Financial Reporting Entity

The City of Burlington, Vermont Airport Enterprise Fund (the Fund) is a municipally
owned atrport organized in 1920. The Airport is located in South Burlington, Vermont.

The Fund is an enterprise fund within the City of Burlington, Vermont (City). As such,
this financial statement is not intended to present the financial position and results of
operations of the City of Burlington, Vermont as a whole.

The accounting policies of the Fund conform to generally accepted accounting principles
as applicable to governmental entities. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing accounting and financial
reporting principles. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting
policies.

. Basis of Presentation

Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations: (a) that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the governing body
is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the
general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of
revenue earmed, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital mainte-
nance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. Based on the
above definition, the Fund is accounted for utilizing enterprise fund accounting.

. Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. Proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the eco-
nomic resources measurement focus. This means that all assets and liabilities associated
with the operation of these funds (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the
balance sheet (or statement of net position). Fund equity (i.e., total net position) is segre-
gated into net investment in capital assets, restricted net position, and unrestricted net
position. Operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses)
in net position.
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D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenue and expenses are recognized and reported in
the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurement
made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

The financial statements are prepared utilizing the accrual basis of accounting. Accord-
ingly, revenues and expenses are recognized at the time goods and services are provided
or received.

Operating revenues are defined as income received from the rent of terminal space and
buildings, landing fees, concession commissions and parking receipts.

Nonoperating revenues are defined as income received from sources other than that
defined above. Nonoperating revenues include investment income, passenger facility
charges (PFC), grant income, building rents from buildings purchased for future expan-
sion and the sale of equipment.

Operating expenses are defined as the ordinary costs and expenses of the Airport for
operations, maintenance and repairs. Operating expenses include the costs of operating
the Airport and related buildings as well as administrative and general expenses and
depreciation and amortization. Operating expenses do not include the principal and
interest on bonds, notes or other indebtedness, certain grant expenses, amortization of bond
issue costs, or expenses related to the rental of buildings purchased for future expansion.

E. Estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted account-
ing principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

F. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Deposits with financial institutions consist primarily of demand deposits and savings
accounts.

Cash recorded by the Fund is combined with cash of the City in determining amounts
covered by Federal Depository Insurance or by collateral held by the City’s banks.

State and local statutes place certain limitations on the nature of deposits and investments
available. Deposits in any financial institution may not exceed certain levels within the
financial institution. Investments can be made in securities issued by or unconditionally
guaranteed by the U.S. Government or agencies that have a maturity of one year or less
from the date of purchase and repurchase agreements guaranteed by such securities with
maturity dates of no more than 90 days from the date of purchase.
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J.

Investments for the Fund consist of debt related securities which are carried at fair value.
Receivables

Receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts for the estimated
losses that will be incurred in the collection of the receivables. The estimated losses are
based on the judgment of management and a review of the current status of existing
receivables. Unbilled revenues consist of various revenues earned as of June 30 but not
yet billed as of that date.

Inventories

Inventory quantities are determined by physical count and are valued at the lower of cost
or market. Inventories at the Airport consist of maintenance supplies and parts.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, land improvements, buildings and improvements,
vehicles, and equipment is recorded at cost including equipment acquired under capital
leases that transfer substantially all risks of ownership to the Fund. Contributed assets are
recorded at acquisition value at the time received. The cost of normal maintenance and
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the asset’s life are not
capitalized. The Fund’s capitalization policy considers two factors. Property will be
capitalized when:

1. The combined cost to put a unit in service totals more than $10,000.
2. The unit’s estimated life is greater than five (5) years.
Interest incurred during the construction phase for the Fund capital assets is reflected in

the capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of any interest earned on the invested
proceeds during the same period.

The Fund follows the policy of charging to expenses annual amounts of depreciation
which allocates the cost of plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives. The
Fund employs the straight-line method for determining the annual charge for
depreciation.

The depreciable lives of capital assets are as follows:

Depreciable Lives

Land improvements 30 Years
Buildings and improvements 25-150 Years
Infrastructure 10 - 40 Years
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 5-15 Years

Long-Term Obligations

In the Fund’s statements revenue bonds payable, capital leases payable, accrued
employee compensated absences, other post-employment benefits (OPEB), and net
pension liability are reported as long term liabilities.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of

a bank failure, the deposits may not be returned. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015 the
Fund’s bank balance was $14,959,082 and $14,669,820 respectively. Disclosures related to
collateralization are included in the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

INVESTMENTS

A.

Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obliga-
tion to the holder of the investment.

The Fund invests in US Treasury Notes, which have an implied credit rating of AAA.

Custodial Credit Risk

The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to
recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of
another party. The Fund does not have a policy for custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Fund does not have an investment in one issuer greater than 5% of the total invest-
ments for the City.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the
fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater
the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The Fund does not have
a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The Fund’s investment
in US Treasury Notes have maturities of one to five years.

Fair Value
The categorization of financial instruments within the valuation hierarchy is based on the

lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The hierarchy is
prioritized into three levels (with Level 3 being the lowest) defined as follows:

Level I: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
has the ability to access.
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Level 2: Observable inputs other than prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar
assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated with observable market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the investments.

The fair value of the Fund’s investment in US Treasuries were determined based on
“Level 2” inputs. The valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of the “Level
2” instruments were valued based on quoted market prices or model-driven valuations
using significant inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
Fund does not have any marketable securities in the “Level 1” or “Level 3” category.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Receivables consisted of the following:

2016 2015
Customer/concessions receivables § 1,409,068 §$ 1,243,926
Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (26,321) (26,321)
Net Receivables $ 1,382,747 $§ 1,217,605

5. INTERGOVERNMENTAL RECEIVABLE

The majority of this balance represents reimbursements requested from the Federal Aviation
Administration’s Airport Improvement Program (AIP), and State Department of Transportation,
for capital related expenditures incurred in fiscal 2016 and 2015. Additional receivables rep-

resent other reimbursements from Federal and local governments. The receivables consisted
of:
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2016 2015
Airport Improvement Projects:
AIP 74 - 2009 Noise Land Acquisition $ - $ 197,262
AIP 78 - 2010 Noise Land Acquisition (A) 1,991 86,843
AIP 81 - 2010 Property Acquisition 67,115 155,497
AIP 84 - 2010 Noise Land Acquisition (B) 1,015 71,017
AIP 87 - 2011 Noise Land Acquisition (A) 3,344 178,151
AIP 88 - 2011 Noise Land Acquisition (B) 59,248 105,083
AIP 91 - Part 150 NEM Update 3,342 77,584
AIP 92 - 2012 Noise Land Acquisition (A) 76,044 179,450
AIP 94 - 2012 Noise Land Acquisition (B) 60,713 217,905
AIP 95 - Taxiway B Reconstruction - 601,478
AIP 96 - Cargq Apron Rehab - . 75,879
AIP 97 - Design Update Security 64,386 63,314
AIP 101 - Security System Update 189,036 -
AIP 102 - Taxiway K (South) - 106,992
AIP 103 - Air Carrier Apron Phase II 220,738 -
AIP 104 - Taxiway K Construction 820,135 -
AIP 105 - 2015 Noise Land Acquisition 221,002 -
AIP 106 - Glycol Project 258,142 72,096
AIP 107 - Air Carrier Apron Phase I1I 61,862 -
Other 275,830 236,736
Other Intergovernmental:
City of South Burlington - property tax refund 117,955 -
Law Enforcement Officer Grant 75,266 118,651
Other 57,534 -
Total $ 2,634,698 $ 2,543,938

DUE FROM BURLINGTON COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

In 2006, the Airport issued a $1,400,000 note to Burlington Community Development Cor-
poration (BCDC), a component unit of the City, to assist in financing the construction of a
new Airport support hanger. The terms of the note require monthly payments of $7,764
beginning in July, 2006 for twenty years with interest at 3%. The note is due in June 2026.

The outstanding balance at June 30 is as follows:

2016 2015
Balance due $ 804,091 § 872,032
Less: current portion (70,007) (67,941)
Long term portion § 734084 § 804,091
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Future maturities are anticipated to be as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2017 $§ 70,007 $§ 23,165 $ 93,172
2018 72,136 21,036 93,172
2019 74,330 18,842 93,172
2020 76,591 16,581 93,172
2021 78,921 14,251 93,172
2022 - 2026 432,106 33,788 465,894
§ 804,091 § 127,663 $ 931,754
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Capital asset activity for the years ended June 30 was as follows:
2016
Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land $ 23,066,462 $ 864910 §$ - $ 23,931,372
Construction in progress 35,020,624 5,382,299 (8,215,049) 32,187,874
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 58,087,086 6,247,209 (8,215,049) 56,119,246
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land improvements 68,169,214 9,440,361 - 77,609,575
Buildings and improvements 84,552,248 1,055,345 - 85,607,593
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 10,332,419 380,353 (85,474) 10,627,298
Total capital assets, being depreciated 163,053,881 10,876,059 (85,474) 173,844,466
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements (32,768,475) (2,798,610) - (35,567,085)
Buildings and improvements (31,984,299) (2,527,534) - (34,511,833)
Machinery, equipment and vehicles (5,606,733) (602,498) 79,188 (6,130,043)
Total accumulated depreciation (70,359,507) (5,928,642) 79,188 (76,208,961)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 92,694,374 4,947,417 (6,286) 97,635,505
Total capital assets, net $ 150,781,460 $ 11,194,626 $ (8,221,335) § 153,754,751
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2015

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land $ 21878462 § 1,188,000 $ - $ 23,066,462
Construction in progress 29,569,076 5,737,310 (285,762) 35,020,624
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 51,447,538 6,925,310 (285,762) 58,087,086
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land improvements 68,135,260 33,954 - 68,169,214
Buildings and improvements 84,527,975 24,273 - 84,552,248
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 10,203,361 129,058 - 10,332,419
Total capital assets, being depreciated 162,866,596 187,285 - 163,053,881
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements (30,128,127) (2,640,348) - (32,768,475)
Buildings and improvements (29,415,441) (2,568,858) - (31,984,299)
Machinery, equipment and vehicles (5,006,318) (600,415) - (5,606,733)
Total accumulated depreciation (64,549,886) (5,809,621) - (70,359,507)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 98,316,710 (5,622,336) - 92,694,374
Total capital assets, net $ 149,764,248 $ 1,302,974 $  (285,762) $§ 150,781,460

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities represent 2016 expenditures paid on or after July 1,
2016.

SHORT TERM DEBT - LINE OF CREDIT

The Fund used a line of credit to finance airport improvement projects prior to grant
reimbursement from the Federal Aviation Administration and the State Department of
Transportation. On September 22, 2015, the Fund entered into Grant Anticipation Line of
Credit in the principal amount of up to $7,000,000 with an interest rate of $2.75% which
matures on September 20, 2016.

Short term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2016 was as follows:

Balance at Balance at
Description 7/1/15 Draws Repayments 6/30/16
Line of credit $ - $ 1,017,925 $ (371,323) § 646,602
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10. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

The Fund enters into lease agreements as the lessee for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of major pieces of equipment. These lease agreements qualify as capital lease
obligations for accounting purposes (even though they include clauses that allow for
cancellation of the lease in the event the City does not appropriate funds in future years) and,
therefore, have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments as
of the inception date of the leases.

The Fund had the following leases outstanding at June 30:

2016 2015
Capital lease for airport equipment. The rental payments are made
twice a year for a total of $173,460 annually including interest at
3.214% annually, maturing on June 26, 2020. ) $ 693,840 $ 867,301
Capital lease payable via the City's general master lease program for
airport equipment. The rental payments are made twice a year for a
total of $1,752 annually including interest at 1.96% annually, maturing
on November 18, 2016. 876 2,627
Total lease payments 694,716 869,928
Less: amount that represents interest (47,606) (72,020)
Total lease obligation 647,110 797,908
Less: amount due within one year (154,786) (150,798)
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion $ 492324 § 647,110

Future minimum lease payments consisted of the following as of June 30, 2016:

Fiscal Year

2017 $ 174336

2018 173,460

2019 173,460

2020 173,460

Subtotal 694,716
Less amounts representing interest (47,606)
Total $ 647,110

The following is an analysis for the leased assets included in capital assets at June 30:

2016 2015
Machinery, vehicles and equipment $ 1497912 § 1,497,912
Less: accumulated depreciation (374,478) (299,582)

Equipment under capital leases, net ~ $ 1,123434 § 1,198,330
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11. LONG-TERM DEBT

Revenue Bonds - The Fund issues bonds where the City pledges income to pay the debt
service. Revenue bonds outstanding at June 30 are as follows:

2016
Amount
Original Serial Serial Outstanding
Issue Maturities Maturities Interest as of
Description Amount Begin Through Rate(s) 06/30/16
Revenue Refunding Bond 2012 Series A $ 17,670,000  7/1/2019  7/1/2028 4.00-5.00% $ 17,670,000
Revenue Refunding Bond 2012 Series B $ 7,130,000 7/1/2013  7/1/2018 3.50% 4,085,000
Revenue Refunding Bond 2014 Series A $ 15,660,000  7/1/2015 7/1/2030  4.00 - 5.00% 15,285,000
Total $ 37,040,000
2015
Amount
Original Serial Serial Outstanding
Issue Maturities Maturities Interest as of
Description Amount Begin Through Rate(s) 06/30/15
Revenue Refunding Bond 2012 Series A $ 17,670,000  7/1/2019 7/1/2028 4.00-5.00% $ 17,670,000
Revenue Refunding Bond 2012 Series B $ 7,130,000 7/1/2013  7/1/2018 3.50% 5,360,000
Revenue Refunding Bond 2014 Series A § 15,660,000 7/1/2015  7/1/2030  4.00 - 5.00% 15,660,000
Total $ 38,690,000
Maturities are as follows (excluding the lease obligations):
Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 2,015,000 $ 1,634,938 §$ 3,649,938
2018 2,110,000 1,551,838 3,661,838
2019 2,195,000 1,465,063 3,660,063
2020 2,245,000 1,364,675 3,609,675
2021 2,355,000 1,249,675 3,604,675
2022 - 2026 13,645,000 4,390,576 18,035,576
2027 - 2031 12,475,000 1,200,325 13,675,325

§ 37,040,000 $

12,857,090 § 49,897,090

Unamortized Premium - Debt premiums in connection with the sale of bonds are amortized
over the terms of the related debt. Unamortized balances are included as a component of

long-term debt.

27



Changes in long-term debt and other obligations are as follows for the year ended June 30:

2016
Equals
Total Total Less Long
Balance Balance Current Term
/15 Additions Reduction Refunding 6/30/16 Portion Portion
Revenue refunding bond 2012 seriesA  § 17,670,000 $ - - 8 - § 17,670,000 $ - $ 17,670,000
Revenue refunding bond 2012 series B 5,360,000 - (1,275,000) - 4,085,000 (1,305,000) 2,780,000
Revenue refunding bond 2014 series A 15,660,000 - (375,000) - 15,285,000 (710,000) 14,575,000
Total revenue bonds payable 38,690,000 - (1,650,000) - 37,040,000 (2,015,000) 35,025,000
Add unamortized premium 1,709,847 - (192,078) - 1,517,769 (183,155) 1,334,614
Subtotal 40,399,847 - (1,842,078) - 38,557,769 (2,198,155) 36,359,614
Obligations under capital leases 797,908 - (150,798) - 647,110 (154,786) 492,324
Compensated absences 200,047 - (7,264) - 192,783 - 192,783
Net OPEB obligation 126,442 12,642 - - 139,084 - 139,084
Net pension liability 1,278,506 890,962 - - 2,169,468 - 2,169,468
Total ©$ 42,802,750 § 903,604 $ (2,000,140)$ - 8 41,706,214 $ (2,352,941) $ 39,353,273
2015
Equals
Total Total Less Long
Balance Balance Current Term
/14 Additions Reduction Refunding 6/30/15 Portion Portion
Revenue bond 2003 series A $ 17,580,000 $ - - § (17,580,000)8 - 5 - $ -
Revenue bond 2003 series B 905,000 - (905,000) - - - -
Revenue refunding bond 2012 series A 17,670,000 - - - 17,670,000 - 17,670,000
Revenue refunding bond 2012 series B 6,615,000 - (1,255,000) - 5,360,000 (1,275,000) 4,085,000
Revenue refunding bond 2014 series A - 15,660,000 - - 15,660,000 (375,000) 15,285,000
Total revenue bonds payable 42,770,000 15,660,000 (2,160,000)  (17,580,000) 38,690,000 (1,650,000) 37,040,000
Add unamortized premium 153,632 1,906,637 (350,422) - 1,709,847 (192,077) 1,517,770
Subtotal 42,923,632 17,566,637 (2,510,422)  (17,580,000) 40,399,847 (1,842,077) 38,557,770
Obligations under capital leases 1,078,429 - (280,521) - 797,908 (150,798) 647,110
Compensated absences 196,301 3,746 - - 200,047 - 200,047
Net OPEB obligation 103,442 23,000 - - 126,442 - 126,442
Net pension liability 785,759 492,747 - - 1,278,506 - 1,278,506

Total

$ 45,087,563 $

18,086,130 § (2,790,943)8  (17,580,000)$

42,802,750 § (1,992,875) § 40,809,875

The 2003, 2012, and 2014 Revenue Bonds were issued pursuant to General Bond Resolu-
tions and are secured by a pledge of net Airport revenues. Pursuant to the General Bond
Resolutions, revenues means all rates, fees, charges or other income and includes rentals,
proceeds of insurance or condemnation or other disposition of assets, proceeds of bonds or
notes and earnings from the investment of revenues.

On an annual basis, revenues must be sufficient after deducting operating expenses to meet
minimum debt service coverage requirements of 1.25. Revenues for this purpose represent all
rates, charges, rents and other income, including PFC revenues available for debt service.
Operating expenses represent O&M (operation and maintenance), excluding depreciation.
Certain other exclusions apply. City’s Bond Counsel has determined that the effect of GASB
68 on pension expense is excludable from O&M and, therefore, not included in determining
Net Revenues available for debt service. If minimum debt service coverage requirements are
not met, the Fund must take timely corrective action. The Fund met the required debt
coverage ratio for 2016 and 2015 with 1.59 and 1.48, respectively. The primary factor
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12.

affecting the increase in the debt coverage ratio was due to the 2015 refinancing, which
lowered the debt service principal and interest requirements. Even though there was a
decrease in revenues during 2016, the reduction of debt service requirements caused an
overall positive impact on the ratio.

REFUNDING

On December 17, 2014, the City issued revenue refunding bonds series 2014A in the amount
of $15,660,000 with a variable interest rate ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%. The bond proceeds
plus premium of $1,906,637 and other sources of $2,486,850 (including the release of Series
2003A debt service reserve fund) was used to:

o Currently refund the $17,580,000 revenue bonds, series 2003A issued for parking
garage expansion, terminal access road infrastructure, elevated pedestrian walkway
between the parking garage and the terminal, and terminal expansion, including
passenger waiting areas, main terminal lobby and terminus for elected pedestrian
walkway. The series 2003A revenue bond had interest rates ranging from 3.40% to
5.00% and the bond was maturing between July 1, 2015 and July 1, 2028. The series
2014A bond also paid the accrued interest of $434,466 for the series 2003A at the
time of refunding.

e Fund the $1,423,844 debt service fund required for series 2014A bonds.
e Cover the $615,177 series 2014 A debt issuance costs.

The proceeds of $20,053,487 from the refunding bonds and debt service release funds, net of
issuance costs, were used to purchase U.S. Treasury bills, bonds, notes or securities and
deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide debt service payments until
the term bonds are called on January 16, 2015. The current refunding met the requirements of
an in-substance debt defeasance and the term bonds were removed from the Fund’s financial
statements.

As a result of the current refunding, the Fund reduced its total debt service cash flow
requirements by $1.7 million through 2030, which resulted in an economic gain (difference
between the present value of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $956,583
or 6.11% of the refunded 2003 A bonds.
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13.

14.

RESTRICTED NET POSITION

Restricted net position was comprised of the following at June 30:

2016 2015
Restricted for debt service and capital projects (PFC) $ 2,685,078 $ 1,955,129
Restricted for prepaid cash reserve (PFC) 487,792 486,776
Restricted for renewal and replacement reserve 216,247 215,764
Restricted for debt service reserve 3,782,158 3,739,379
Restricted for bond debt service reserve 2,881,487 2,558,285
Restricted for operations and maintenance reserve 3,294,755 3,287,966

Total § 13,347517 § 12,243,299

The restricted PFC cash above of $3,172,870 ($2,685,078 and $487,792) in addition to the
PFC amount included in the debt service reserve above of $918,302 and $7,225 included in
unrestricted cash, for a total of $4,098,397, is presented in the Schedule of Passenger Facility
Charges Collected and Expended (other information).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND RESULTING NET PENSION LIABILITY

Defined Benefit Plan: All full-time employees of the Fund participate in the City of Burling-
ton Employees’ Retirement System (the Plan), a cost sharing, single employer defined benefit
plan. The Fund follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, with respect to the Plan.

Plan Description: Substantially all employees of the Fund are members of the Plan and are
classified as Class B members. Eligible employees must participate in the Plan. Effective
July 1, 2015 the City required a 3.40% contribution of earnable compensations from
AFSCME employees. For the year ended June 30, 2015 AFSCME contributions were 3%.
All other employees contributed 3%. It is the current policy of the City of Burlington to fund
the actuarially determined periodic contributions using the projected unit credit cost method.
Gains (losses), as they occur, reduce (increase) the unfunded past service cost. The Fund’s
contributions were based on full time equivalents and wages. The City Council has the
authority to amend the benefit terms of the Plan by enacting ordinances and sending them to
the Mayor for approval.

At June 30, 2016, the Fund reported a net pension liability for its proportionate share of the
City’s net pension liability per the new GASB 68. The net pension liability was measured as
of June 30, 2015. The Fund’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection
of the Fund’s payroll relative to the total payroll of the City. At June 30, 2016 and 2015,
Fund’s proportions were 3.1827 and 2.3751 percent, respectively. For more information on
the City’s plan, see the City of Burlington, VT financial statements.
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Benefits Provided: Class B retirees who have attained the age of 55 or older and completed 7 or
more years of creditable service (age and years of creditable service vary depending on agree-
ments) are eligible for benefits based on average final earnable compensation (AFC) during
either the highest 5 or 3 non-overlapping 12-months periods depending on hiring dates. For
details on agreements and AFC, see the City of Burlington, VT financial statements.

Contributions: The Fund contributed $281,375 and $211,879 for the measurement years
ended June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, the measurement date of the net pension liability
used for the June 30, 2015 reporting period.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: For purposes of measuring the net pension
liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions,
and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Plan was used as
reported on the City of Burlington, VT Financial Statements. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Actuarial assumptions: The total pension liability in the June 30, 2015 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in
the measurement:

Inflation 3 percent
Salary increases 3.8 to 8.8 percent, including inflation

Investment rate of return 8 percent, net of pension plan investment
expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 combined mortality tables for males and females,
with full generational projection by scale BB.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of

the most recent actuarial experience study, which was for the five year period ended June 30,
2012.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was selected from a best
estimate range determined using the building block approach. Under this method, an
expected future real return range is calculated separately for each asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return net of investment expenses by the target asset allocation percentage
and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major class as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the following
table:
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Target Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Equity 30.80% 6.70%
Fixed income 31.50% 2.94%
Alternatives 23.30% 6.26%
Multi-strategy 14.40% 5.98%

Total 100.00%

Nominal long-term expected rates of return for these asset classes are equal to the sum of the
above expected long-term real rates and the expected long-term inflation rate of 3.00%.

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that the plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions
will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution
rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all future benefit payments to the current plan members.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate: The following presents the Fund’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calcu-
lated using the discount rate of 8.00 percent, as well as what the Fund’s proportionate share
of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one per-
centage-point lower (7.00%) or one percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

Fund's net pension liability as 1% Decrease  Discount Rate 1% Increase

of: (7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
June 30, 2016 $ 3,047,906 §$ 2,169468 § 1,435,808
June 30, 2015 1,867,659 1,278,506 779,745

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources: As a result of implementing GASB 68, the
differences between projected and actual investment earnings, difference between actual and
expected experience, and changes in proportional share of contributions related to pension
was reported as deferred inflows of resources and will be amortized over the next several
future fiscal years.

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pension will be
recognized in pension expense in future fiscal years as follows:
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15.

Net deferred outflows (inflows)

of resources:
Amortization As of As of
Year: 6/30/2016 6/30/2015
2016 $ - $ 417,158
2017 635,345 135,784
2018 365,342 135,784
2019 191,479 (38,082)
2020 86,667 -

§ 1,278,833 § 650,644

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduci-
ary net position is available in the separately issued City of Burlington financial report. No
separate stand-alone report is issued for the pension system. Further disclosures about the
Plan are included in the City of Burlington’s financial statements.

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OTHER THAN PENSION)

The City follows GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers
for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB 45) for reporting other post-
employment benefits (OPEB) including healthcare, life insurance, and other non-pension
benefits offered to retirees. The City allows certain retired employees to purchase health
insurance through the City at the City’s group rates, which is recognized as implicit subsidy.
GASB 45 addresses how the City should account for and report its costs related to OPEB,
such as the City’s implicit subsidy of retiree health insurance and the City’s direct subsidy of
retiree health insurance. GASB 45 requires that the City recognize the cost of the retiree
health subsidy during the period of employees’ active employment, while the benefits are
being earned, and disclose the unfunded actuarial accrued liability in order to accurately
account for the total future cost of post-employment benefits and the financial impact on the
City. The Fund’s portion of the OPEB liability as presented in the long-term debt section.

Funding Policy: The City funds the benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis.

Further disclosures about the Plan are included in the City of Burlington, Vermont’s financial
statements.
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16.

17.

18.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Fund offers its employees a deferred compensation plan administered through the City in
accordance with Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). The plan permits
employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The deferred compensation is
not available to the employees until termination, retirement, death, or for “unforeseeable
emergency” as defined by IRS guidelines. The assets of the plan are not included in the
accompanying financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

It is the City’s policy to charge or pay interest based on outstanding balances advanced to or
borrowed from the municipal funds of the City. The interest rate is based on the average
interest rate which would have been earned in the City’s sweep account. Total interfund
interest paid, net, during 2016 and 2015 was $3,984 and $21,979, respectively.

The City Clerk/Treasurer’s office charges all departments for administration and risk
management fees. The City Council approves, through the budget process, the annual
assessments. For the years ending June 30, 2016 and 2015, administrative and risk
management fees paid to the City General Fund were $353,530 and $422,055, respectively.

The Fund contracted with other City departments to provide services such as security from
the Police Department at a fee of $1,014,000 and $1,062,827 for fiscal years 2016 and 2015,
respectively. The Airport also contracted with the Traffic Fund to operate its parking lot and
parking garage at a fee of $50,000 and $50,000 for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively.

LEASES

The Fund leases office, building and ground space to various Airport related businesses,
including airlines, car rental companies, food and gift concessions, governmental agencies
and others. The lease rates vary and are computed based upon square footage, percentages of
gross revenues and combinations of the two. The leases expire at varying dates through 2033.

Lease revenue for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was approximately $7,653,900

and $7,751,800, respectively. Future lease revenue estimated to be received in each of the
next five fiscal years under these agreements are as follows:

2017 $ 17,730,000

2018 7,810,000
2019 7,885,000
2020 7,965,000
2021 8,040,000
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following include outstanding legal issues:
Mansfield Heliflight, Inc. v. City of Burlington, Vermont

On or around July 29, 2014, Mansfield Heliflight, Inc. (“Mansfield”) filed a Part 16
Complaint with the FAA against the City, alleging the City has prevented Mansfield from
becoming a Fixed-Base Operator (“FBO”) at BTV, and that its efforts in this regard
effectively granted an exclusive right to Heritage Aviation, Inc. The Complaint alleges that
(1) the City is in violation of Grant Assurance No. 23, prohibiting the grant of an exclusive
right to any person to conduct aeronautical activities at BTV; (2) the City is in violation of
Grant Assurance No. 2,2 prohibiting unjust discrimination; and (3) predatory conduct and
illegal restraint of trade by the City in violation of the Sherman Act and Grant Assurance
No. 1, which prohibits a sponsor’s violation of federal law. The City filed a Consolidated
Answer, Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Dismiss on October 2, 2014, denying
many of the factual allegations in Mansfield’s Complaint. The City has moved to dismiss
Count 3 on the grounds FAA lacks jurisdiction over the alleged Sherman Act violation, and
for summary judgment on Counts 1 and 2 on the grounds that the undisputed facts do not
demonstrate a violation of the City’s Grant Assurances. The City believes that the FBO’s
claims are without merit. The Airport has just selected Mansfield Heliflight, Inc. to use and
rehab the South Hangar. This selection was the result of a competitive bidding RFP process.
BTV believes this will help resolve Mansfield Heliflight’s Part 16 complaint.

South Burlington Assessments

The City of Burlington and the City of South Burlington settled the property tax dispute
regarding Burlington International Airport in August 2016. Both City Councils approved a
property tax settlement agreement that draws the dispute to a close. The settlement
establishes a clear methodology for current properties and future assessments. The settlement
resolves the dispute that began when the City appealed the City of South Burlington’s
assessment of all the Airport-related properties owned by the City as of April 1, 2012.
Beginning in tax year 2015-2016, the total assessed value of Airport land and buildings is
approximately 52 million. This is a reduction from the previous assessment of $77 million.
Based on the Superior Court’s decision, the City will pay property taxes on some Airport
land and improvements and a payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) on other Airport land. This
agreement will cover a 10 year period through 2027-28.

The City does not believe that any of the above-referenced matters will have a material,
adverse effect upon the financial position of the Fund.

Grants - Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies, including possible grant
assurance violations at the Fund, are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies,
principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already col-
lected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount of expenditures which
may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time, although the Fund
expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.
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Construction Commitments — The Airport has a number of ongoing Airport Improvement
Program (AIP) projects for construction and land acquisition, as well as several Passenger
Facility Program (PFC) projects for terminal improvements that are funded from restricted
assets. AIP projects include taxiway reconstruction, storm-water treatment projects, building
demolition related to previously acquired property and land acquisition. The PFC projects
include energy projects, cargo apron reconstruction, escalator and baggage carousel projects
and related work.

20. RISK MANAGEMENT

A. Insurance

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and
destruction of, assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employee; and natural disasters.
The Fund manages these risks through a combination of commercial insurance packages
and through the City’s risk management program.

The City carries commercial insurance to cover its property, casualty and general liability
risks. Commercial property insurance, inland marine and employment practices insurance
coverage is provided by Travelers and is offered on a guaranteed cost basis with a
deductible of $50,000. Starting fiscal year 2016, the City has a large-deductible worker’s
compensation plan with Travelers Indemnity Company. Prior to fiscal year 2016, the City
was self-insured for worker’s compensation.

The Fund also carries Airport Owners and Operators General Liability insurance with the
following limits:

Completed Operations Aggregate $100 million
Personal Injury and Advertising Injury Aggregate $50 million
Malpractice Aggregate $50 million
Each occurrence limit $100 million
Fire Damage — any one fire $500,000
Medical Expenses — any one person $10,000
Hangarkeepers Limit — any one aircraft $100 million
Hangarkeepers Limit — any one occurrence $100 million

For Health and Dental insurance, the City self-insures with appropriate stop-loss cover-
age in place to cover large claims. The stop-loss limits are as follows:

Health insurance $130,000 per occurrence with no stop loss coverage
Dental insurance The benefit from this coverage cannot exceed $1,500 per
participant

All of the City’s self-insurance programs are administered by a third-party administrator,
which processes and pays the claims and then bills the City for the amount of the total
claims paid.
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The costs associated with these self-insurance plans are budgeted in the City’s General
Fund and allocated to the Fund based on the following:

Type Allocation Method
Worker's compensation 50% Experience and 50% Exposure
Health Number of employees and levels of coverage
Dental Actual claims and administrative fees paid
Liability Adjusted operating budgets
Property Insured value of city structures

The City has elected to pay actual unemployment claims instead of enrolling in an unem-
ployment insurance program. The Fund paid $14,904 in unemployment claims in 2016,
while there were no claims in 2015 .

. Factors Affecting the Airline Industry

The City’s ability to derive Revenues from its operation of the Airport depends upon
many factors, many of which are not subject to the control of the City. Revenues may be
affected by the ability of the Signatory Airlines, individually and collectively, to meet
their respective obligations under the Airport Agreements. The financial results of the
airline industry have been subject to substantial volatility since deregulation of the airline
industry in 1978. Financial results of most airlines reflected substantial net losses. Recent
years of airline mergers, takeovers, asset transfers and bankruptcies have resulted, and
may continue to result, in a consolidation of the industry. The impact of further consoli-
dation within the U.S. airline industry cannot be predicted at this time. Historically, the
airline industry’s results have correlated with the performance of the economy. Further
bankruptcy filings, liquidations or major restructurings by members of the airline industry
remain possible.

The City’s ability to generate Net Revenues and PFCs depends on sufficient levels of avi-
ation activity and passenger traffic at the Airport. The achievement of increased passen-
ger traffic will depend partly on the profitability of the airline industry and the ability of
individual airlines to provide sufficient capacity to meet demand.

The City’s ability to derive Net Revenues from its operation of the Airport depends upon
many factors which affect the airlines’ operations at the Airport, many of which are not
subject to the control of the City, including the economy, domestic and international
affairs, air transportation disruptions, the threat of terrorism and international conflict,
health crises, cost structure of the airlines, including the cost of aviation fuel, and labor
issues. The City cannot assess the impact that these factors will have on the airline indus-
try and, in turn, on the Net Revenues.

In addition, many factors have combined to create structural changes in the travel market
that have altered consumer travel patterns. The threat of terrorism against the United
States remains. As a result, the federal government has mandated various security measures
that have resulted in new security taxes and fees and longer passenger processing and

37



wait times at airports. Both add to the costs of air travel and make air travel less attractive
to consumers relative to ground transportation, especially to short-haul destinations.
Additionally, consumers have become more price-sensitive. Efforts of airlines to stimu-
late traffic by heavily discounting fares have changed consumer expectations regarding
airfares. Consumers have come to expect extraordinary low fares. In addition, the avail-
ability of fully transparent price information on the Internet now allows quick and easy
comparison shopping, which has changed consumer purchasing habits. Consumers have
shifted from purchasing paper tickets from travel agencies or airline ticketing offices to
purchasing electronic tickets over the Internet. This has made pricing and marketing even
more competitive in the U.S. airline industry. Smaller corporate travel budgets, combined
with the higher time costs of travel, have made business customers more amenable to
communications substitutes such as tele- and video-conferencing.

Faced with the growth of lower-cost airlines and evolving business technology, legacy
airlines (United, Delta, American, and U.S. Airways) have been forced to change their
business practices, including reducing or eliminating service on unprofitable routes,
reducing their workforces, implementing pay cuts, reducing fares to compete with low-cost
carriers, deferring aircraft deliveries, streamlining operations and significantly increasing
the use of smaller, regional jets.

The aviation industry is cyclical and subject to intense competition and variable demand.
Further, airline debt levels remain high, many airlines have large unfunded pension obli-
gations and many airlines have an aging aircraft fleet and/or aging computer systems. The
airlines are vulnerable to fuel price spikes, labor activity, recession and external shocks
(such as terrorism, pandemics, military conflicts and natural disasters). As a result, finan-
cial performance can fluctuate dramatically from one reporting period to the next.

The City makes no representation with respect to the continued viability of any of the
carriers serving the Airport, airline service patterns, or the impact of any airline failures
on the Net Revenues and PFC or CFC collections. Additionally, no assurance can be given
that adverse events similar to the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001 and related sub-
sequent events will not happen in the future.

21. MAJOR CUSTOMERS

A significant portion of the Fund’s earnings and revenues are directly or indirectly attributed
to the activity of a few major airlines.

The Fund’s earnings and revenues could be materially and adversely affected should these
major airlines discontinue operations and should the Fund be unable to replace the airline
with similar activity. The level of operations is determined based upon the relative share of
enplaned passengers. The following represents major concentrations and their respective
airline passenger shares:
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22.

23.

2016 2015

United 32% 30%
American 27% 28%
Delta 22% 23%

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE AND RESTATEMENT OF BEGINNING
NET POSITION

For fiscal year 2015, the Fund has adopted GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions, as amended by GASB Statement 71, Pension Transition for
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date. GASB 68 establishes accounting
and financial reporting standards that significantly impacted the Fund’s basic financial
statements by recognizing as a liability and expense, the Airport’s applicable portion of the
City of Burlington Employee’s Retirement System’s Net Pension Liability.

The beginning net position of the Fund was restated for July 1, 2014 Net Pension Liability of
$785,759, less contributions made during fiscal year 2014 of $211,879, for a net reduction to
beginning net position of $573,880. Fiscal year 2014 and prior periods have not been restated
for GASB 68 due to impractical nature of allocating annual activity and lack of information
for measurement dates June 30, 2012 and prior; as this is a new standard and beginning net
position restatement for July 1, 2014 does not recognize beginning balances for other
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions in
accordance with GASB 71.

IMPLEMENTATION OF NEW GASB STANDARDS

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions,
replacing requirements of Statements No. 45 and 57, effective for the Fund beginning with its
year ending June 30, 2018. This Statement establishes standards for recognizing and
measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and
expenditures. In addition, this Statement details the recognition and disclosure requirements
for employers with payables to defined benefit OPEB plans that are administered through
trusts that meet specific criteria and for employers whose employees are provided with
defined contribution OPEB. Management’s current assessment is that this pronouncement
will have an impact on the Fund’s basic financial statements by increasing the net OPEB
liability and, as a result, decreasing unrestricted net position.
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT
SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

JUNE 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

Burlington Employee's Retirement System

Proportion Proportionate

of the Share of the Proportionate Share of the Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Fiscal Net Pension Net Pension Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of the Total
Year Liability Liability Covered Payroll Percentage of Covered Payroll Pension Liability
June 30, 2016 3.1827% $2,169,468 $ 1,664,402 130.35% 70%
June 30, 2015 2.3751% $1,278,506 $ 1,642,817 77.82% 75%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

SCHEDULE OF PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

JUNE 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

Burlington Employee's Retirement System

Contributions in
Relation to the

Contractually Contractually Contribution Contributions as

Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered a Percentage of

Year Contribution  Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll
June 30,2016  § 281,375 § (281,375) § - $ 1,664,402 17%
June 30,2015  § 211,879 § (211,879) § - $ 1,642,817 13%

Schedules are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as
they become available

See Independent Auditors' Report.
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ACCOUNTANTS = AUDITORS

ELANSON|glZNE3

102 Perimeter Road
Nashua, NH 03063
(603)882-11M

melansonheath.com

Additional Offices:

Andover, MA

Greenfield, MA

Manchester, NH

Ellsworth, ME
REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS OF

THE PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE
AUDIT GUIDE FOR PUBLIC AGENCIES

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Burlington, Vermont

Report on Compliance for the Passenger Facility Charge Program

We have audited the Burlington International Airport, an enterprise fund of the City of Burlington,
Vermont (the Fund), for compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the
Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies (the Guide) issued by the Federal
Aviation Administration, applicable to its passenger facility charge program that could have a
direct and material effect on the Airport’s passenger facility charge program for the year ended
June 30, 2016. Our responsibility is to express an opinion the Fund’s compliance based on our
audit procedures.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to the Passenger Facility Charges Program.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Fund’s passenger facility
charge program based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govern-
ment Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Guide.
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Those standards and the Guide require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on the passenger facility charges program
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Fund’s compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance with the
Fund’s Passenger Facility Charges Program. However, our audit does not provide a legal deter-
mination of the Fund’s compliance.

Opinion on Passenger Facility Charge Program

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance require-
ments referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the Passenger Facility
Charge program for the year ended June 30, 2016.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the Fund is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal con-
trol over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Fund’s internal control over compli-
ance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the Passenger
Facility Charge program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the Passenger Facility
Charge program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Guide, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s
internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compli-
ance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control
over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compli-
ance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of com-
pliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies. Accordingly,
this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges

We have audited the financial statements of the Burlington International Airport, the enterprise
fund of the City of Burlington, Vermont (the Fund) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016,
and have issued our report thereon dated December 21, 2016, which contained an unmodified
opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an
opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Fund’s basic financial state-
ments. The accompanying schedule of revenues and expenditures 6f passenger facility charges is
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Passenger Facility Charge Audit
Guide for Public Agencies, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such infor-
mation directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the schedule of passenger facility charges is fairly stated in all material respects in rela-
tion to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Malomson Hooth

December 21, 2016



CITY OF BURLINGTON, VERMONT

SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES COLLECTED AND EXPENDED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Cash balance - July 1, 2015

Receipts
Passenger facility charges collected
Interest earnings
Total receipts

Disbursements
Project No. 96-01-1-00-BTV
Project No. 00-03-C-00-BTV
Project No. 10-04-C-00-BTV
Project No. 11-05-C-00-BTV
Project No. 13-06-C-00-BTV
Total disbursements

Increase in cash balance

Cash balance - June 30, 2016

See Note 13 for reconciliation of above cash to the
restricted accounts presented in the financial statements
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3,588,538

2,314,389
4,974

2,319,363

637,648

53,978
395,490
233,537
488,851

1,809,504
509,859

4,098,397



II.

III.

BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors’ report issued: unmodified

Internal Control over Financial Reporting:
e Material weaknesses identified?

e Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
Passenger Facility Charges Program
Internal Control over the Programs:

e Material weaknesses identified?

e Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?

Yes ¥ No

Yes _v' None reported

Yes ¥ No

Yes ¥ No

Yes _v'_None reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for the Programs: unmodified

e Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with Passenger Facility
Charges Audit Guide for Public Agencies?

Financial Statement Findings
None reported.
Findings and Questioned Costs for the Program

None reported.

46

Yes _¥_No



BURILINGTON INTERNATIONAIL. AIRPORT

TO: Burlington International Airport, Board of Commissioners
City of Burlington, Board of Finance
City of Burlington, City Council

FROM: Burlington International Airport Staff
Nic Longo, Director of Planning and Development

DATE: January 17, 2017

SUBJECT: Hudson News Lease Amendment, as discussed on November 28, 2016

The Burlington International Airport (BTV) seeks Airport Board of Commissioners
approval and recommendation to the City of Burlington Board of Finance and City
Council for a lease amendment with Hudson News for their operations in the terminal
facility. The Airport also request Board of Finance approval and Recommendation to
City Council, as well as City Council Authorization for this Hudson News Lease
Amendment.

The Airport executed a concession lease agreement with Hudson News in June of 2013.
Their operations consists of three individual news/gift stores located in each concourse
and in the main ticketing area of the terminal. Over the course of their current
agreement, they have seen steady increases in gross revenues, most recently a 3%
increase from their previous contract year, equating to over $2.0 million dollars in gross
revenues. During the 3 years of operations, recent discussions arose regarding the
length of their agreement. Currently, their agreement was for a total of five years,
however, the intent of the lease was to utilize an additional ten year lease agreement,
mutually agreeable by both parties. This is consistent with other concessions
agreements we have at the Airport. Their substantial capital investment into this airport
and their commitment for quality Vermont product and service should have been
captured in the length of their initial lease.

As discussed at the November 28, 2016 Airport Commission meeting, the airport re-
approached Hudson News to request a change in what was previously negotiated.
Instead of a biennially increase, Hudson as agreed to an annual increase. In addition to
the extension of the term, we have negotiated an increase in rental rates for the
remainder of the term. Hudson currently remits 13% of their gross revenues to the
Airport on a monthly basis, however, prior to any month of operation they pre-pay a
guaranteed amount. This guaranteed amount for the remainder of the ten additional
years, will increase every year by 2%, as outlined in the attached draft amendment, the
comparison of the two approaches is attached as well.

The Airport now requests the Board of Commissioners approval and recommend to the
Board of Finance; the Board of Finance approve and recommend to the City Council and
City Council authorization to execute this lease amendment with Hudson News.

1200 Airport Drive, #1
South Burlington, Vermont 05403

Phone: (802) 863-2874 (TTY)
Fax: (802) 863-7947
www.btv.aero

Thank you for your continued support.

The Burlington International Airport, City of Burlington is an Equal Opportunity Employer



AMENDMENT TO CONCESSION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN CITY OF BURLINGTON AND HG BURLINGTON JV
FOR VERMONT SPECIALTY GIFT SHOP AND NEWSTAND AT BURLINGTON
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT DATED JUNE 25, 2013

This is an AMENDMENT to the CONCESSION AGREEMENT (hereinafter
Agreement) between the City of Burlington, a municipal corporation organized and validly
existing under the laws of the State of Vermont (hereinafter CITY) and HG Burlington JV, a
business qualified to do business in the State of Vermont (hereinafter Concessionaire) dated June
25, 2013, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit A.

WHEREAS, in the City is the owner of the Burlington International Airport located in
South Burlington, VT, which airport and any additions or improvements thereto or changes
therein which the City hereafter makes or authorizes are hereinafter collectively referred to as
“the Airport;” and

WHEREAS, the Concessionaire is engaged in the business of operating specialty
concessions and currently does so at the airport pursuant to the Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the City and Concessionaire wish to amend certain terms of the Agreement
while maintaining the remainder of the terms in full force and effect. In particular, the parties
wish to extend the term of the Agreement by ten (10) years and Concessionaire agrees to
increase its Minimum Annual Guarantee (MAG) percentage payment to the City from $201,000,
to increasing two percent (2%) every year effective on year one of the extension.

NOW THEREFORE, based on the above, the Concession Agreement between the City
and Concessionaire dated June 25, 2013 is hereby AMENDED as follows:

1. Paragraph 1.1 is amended to state “Agreement as used herein contemplates and

includes the lease of City-owned property (referred to henceforth as assigned

areas) and permission for Concessionaire to use such City-owned property for the



conduct of a Vermont Specialty Gift Shop and Newsstand within said City-owned

property terms and conditions expressly set forth herein and in any dually

executed amendments hereto.”

2. Paragraph 3.0 (the un-numbered paragraph in Article Il — “Term” and located
prior to paragraph 3.1) is amended to state “This Agreement shall commence

October 1, 2013, and shall terminate on September 30, 2028 unless sooner

terminated in accordance with the terms hereof. Minimum Annual Guarantee and
fees and charges shall run from the date of commencement.”

3. Paragraph 7.2 is amended to state “Concessionaire further agrees that the amount
of the Minimum Annual Guarantee payable to the City shall reflect the following

schedule for the years Six (6) through Fifteen (15):

Year Six: $205,020
Year Seven: $209,120
Year Eight: $213,303
Year Nine: $217,569
Year Ten: $221,920
Year Eleven: $226,359
Year Twelve: $230,886
Year Thirteen: $235,504
Year Fourteen: $240,214
Year Fifteen: $245,018

All other aspects of the Concession Agreement remain in full force and effect.



DATED at Burlington, Vermont this day of , 2016.

BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

By:
Witness Gene Richards Date
Director of Aviation

State of Vermont
County of Chittenden, SS

At Burlington, Vermont this __ day of , 2016 before me personally appeared
Gene Richards, Director of Aviation, duly authorized agent of the City of Burlington and the
Burlington International Airport, and he acknowledged the execution of this document to be his
free act and deed and that of the City of Burlington.

HG BURLINGTON JV

By:
Witness Duly Authorized Agent Date
Title
State of
County of , SS
At : this __ day of , 2016 before me personally
appeared , duly authorized agent of HG BURLINGTON

JV, and s/he acknowledged the execution of this document to be his/her free act and deed and
that of HG BURLINGTON JV.



HUDSON NEWS LEASE AMENDMEND AND MINIMUM ANNUAL
GUARANTEE (MAG) CHANGES

NEW PROPOSAL

PREVIOUS VERSION

Current MAG

S 201,000.00
Per Month
S 16,750.00

“murnrunmnunnmnnmdnmn nn n

2% each year
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3% Every Other
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BURILINGTON INTERNATIONAIL. AIRPORT

MEMO
TO: Burlington International Airport, Board of Commissioners
FROM: Burlington International Airport Staff

Nic Longo, Director of Planning and Development
DATE. January 17, 2017

SUBJECT: Enterprise Rent-A-Car Property Lease at 700 Airport Parkway

The Burlington International Airport (BTV) seeks Airport Board of Commissioners
approval and recommendation to the City of Burlington Board of Finance and
City Council for a lease with ELRAC, LLC. d/b/a Enterprise Rent-A-Car for their
operations at 700 Airport Parkway.

Enterprise currently operates in the terminal renting their vehicle fleet to our
traveling public. In 2016, the Airport was approached by Enterprise to see if they
could supplement their current terminal operation by renting our one of our
existing vacant buildings. Working with them and the City Attorney’s Office on
various items of their lease, we have come to a draft lease agreement that details
the terms and rental period.

The lease will be for an approximately 4,000 square foot building with associated
parking lot together consisting of approximately 2.5 acres. The building has been
vacant for over 5 years with the airport diligently working with various partners
and commercial real estate companies to occupy. The Airport feels this is a
great match for both entities. Enterprise will be remitting, starting April 1, 2017,
$27,066 annually, with annual escalations for the remainder of the term. The
initial term is 5 years, with an additional 5 year option, agreeable by both parties.
This lease is triple net; all utilities, taxes, and other costs will be forwarded to the
new tenant. Enterprise has also committed to receiving the building in an “as-is”
condition, and will incorporate approximately $80,000 into capital improvements
within the building, which will remain after their tenancy.

Attached, please find a draft lease agreement as well as the location of the
building for your approval and recommendation to Board of Finance and City
Council.

Thank you for your continued support.

1200 Airport Drive, #1
South Burlington, Vermont 05403

Phone: (802) 863-2874 (TTY)
Fax: (802) 863-7947
www.btv.aero

The Burlington International Airport, City of Burlington is an Equal Opportunity Employer
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LEASE AGREEMENT FOR 700 AIRPORT PARKWAY BETWEEN
BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AND ELRAC, LLC

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT executed this ____ day of , 2017 by and

between the City of Burlington, a municipal corporation in the State of Vermont (hereinafter called

"Lessor" or "City"), and ELRAC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company authorized to do business

in the State of Vermont (hereinafter called "Lessee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Lessor owns and operates an airport known as the Burlington
International Airport located in South Burlington, Vermont, which airport and any additions or
improvements thereto or changes therein which the City hereafter makes or authorizes are

hereinafter collectively called the "Airport"”; and

WHEREAS, Lessor wishes to enter into a lease for a certain portion of lands and
improvements it owns, in the interest of furthering and carrying on its purpose in the operation of

the Airport and in the public interest and the interest of public airport purposes.

WHEREAS, Lessee desires to lease certain premises owned by Lessor on the
Airport as hereinafter described, together with certain rights and privileges in
connection therewith for the purpose of automobile rental car storage, prep, repair,

cleaning, sales, and related uses;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and of the mutual

covenants and promises herein contained, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follow

1. PREMISES. - Lessor hereby leases to Lessee for its exclusive use, and Lessee hereby
hires and takes from Lessor, the building known as 700 Airport Parkway, consisting of Four
Thousand One Hundred and Fifty-Four (4,154) square feet of industrial space, together with a
parcel of land consisting of approximately 2.64 acres located adjacent to the 700 Airport Parkway
Building, with an estimated 70,000 square foot parking lot as shown on the plans or sketches
attached hereto and marked Exhibit "A” and hereby specifically made a part hereof, to have

and to hold the said premises (collectively referred to hereinafter as the 'Leased Premises").
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2. TERM - The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years with one (1) additional five (5)
year option. This Agreement shall be subject to termination by either Lessor or Lessee, following
Lessor’s fit up as described more fully below, at either party's sole discretion, on not less than
Ninety (90) days advance written notice.

3. RENTAL - The Rental term shall commence April 1, 2017, or ninety (90) days after the
receipt of local permits, whichever dates comes sooner. For and during the term hereof,
Lessee shall pay Lessor the following annual rentals for the use and occupancy of the Leased
Premises in equal monthly instaliments in advance, on or before the first business day of each
calendar month of the term, at the office of the Director of Aviation, Burlington International
Airport, 1200 Airport Drive # 1, South Burlington, Vermont 05403:

Year 1 — Effective April 1, 2017, or 90 days after receipt of Permits (whichever
COMmes sooner):

$27,066 per annum

$2,255.50 monthly

$6.50 per square foot

Year 2 — Effective 1, 2018:

$30,000 per annum

$2,500 monthly

$7.20 per square foot

Year 3 — Effective 1, 2019

$36,000 per annum

$3,000 per month

$8.65 per square foot

Year 4 - Effective 1, 2020

3% annual increase from 2019
Year 5 — Effective 1, 2021

3% annual increase from 2020

In addition to the above:
a. Rent shall be due in advance of the first day of each month, without demand, for the
duration of this Agreement.

b. Any amounts payable which shall not have been paid when due shall bear interest at the
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rate of one and a half percent (1 1/2%) per month, which interest shall be paid by Lessee
in addition to such amount.

c. Renewals — Provided Lessee is not in default of lease terms and conditions
further described and subject to the prior approval of the City of Burlington City Council,
Lessee has the right to renew the lease agreement for an additional five (5) year option.

Written authorization of this extension shall be 90 days prior to the end of the initial term.

4. TAXES AND INSURANCE - Lessee shall also pay taxes and insurance on the property

estimated to be $3.00 per square foot or $1,041 per month in addition to the above referenced

rental amount, with an increase per year in the amount of 3% over the previous year.

5. SECURITY DEPOSIT - Lessee shall provide a security deposit equivalent to one months’

rent, as well as first months’ rent prior to lessees’ move in date.

6. USE OF PREMISES - The Leased Premises shall be used and occupied solely as an automobile

rental car storage, prep, repair, cleaning, sales, and related business. Without limiting the
foregoing, but merely by way of example, Lessee shall not use any portion of the Leased Premises
to conduct any operations that will compete with any other businesses presently leasing from
Lessor, with one example being the operation of a long-term parking facility for Airport
customers. Any and all business uses must be approved in advance by the Director of Aviation to

ensure that it will not affect the business of the Airport in a negative way.

7._AGREEMENT SUBORDINATE - This Agreement shall be subject and subordinate to the

following:

a. Lessor reserves the right to take any action it considers necessary to protect the
aerial approaches of the Airport against obstruction, together with the right to prevent Lessee
from erecting or permitting or causing to be erected any building or other structure which, in
the sole opinion of Lessor, would limit the usefulness of the Airport or constitute a hazard to
aircraft;

b. This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions of any existing or any future
agreement between Lessor and the State of Vermont and/or the United States of America relative to
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the operation or maintenance of the Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as
a condition precedent to the expenditure of Federal or State Funds for the development of the
Airport.

C. Lessor's right, during time of war or national emergency to lease the landing
facilities or any part thereof, or to otherwise permit the use thereof on an exclusive basis, by the
United States of America or the State of Vermont for military use; the provisions of this
Agreement, to the extent that they are inconsistent with these superior rights, shall be
suspended during any such period.

8. LESSEE OBLIGATIONS - Lessee covenants and agrees at its own expense:

a. This Lease Agreement is contingent upon Lessee receiving all federal, state and
local approvals required for the operation of an automobile rental car storage, prep, repair,

cleaning, sales, and related business;

b. To pay the rent and other charges herein reserved at such times and places as the

same are payable;

C. To accept the premises “AS IS”, to furnish the Leased Premises, to transfer all utilities
into Lessor’s name, and to pay all charges for telephone service, sewage service, storm water,
janitorial services, trash and/or hazardous waste removal, snow removal and janitorial service,
water, electric power, heat, gas, air conditioning and other public utilities of every kind and to

transfer these utilities in the Lessee’s name;

d. To perform construction estimated cost being $19.95 per square foot, as shown in
Exhibit B, securing all necessary federal, state, and local permits as required and using licensed
contractors to do so, to keep and maintain all parts of the Leased Premises, including related and
associated appurtenances, in good condition, order and repair during the term of this
Agreement, including but not limited to painting, lighting, removal of snow and garbage,
landscaping, replacement of broken glass with glass the same size and quality of that
broken, installed and operating equipment, and utility services. All maintenance shall be
subject to general monitoring by Lessor to insure a continuing high quality of appearance

commensurate with maintenance and safety standards of the Airport. Lessee shall not be
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responsible for maintenance and repair of any portion of utility lines which are located outside
of the building in which the demised premises are located, unless such repair is required as the
result of an act or omission of Lessee, its representatives, employees, agents, or contractors.
Lessor shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the structure of the building,
including the roof, foundation and exterior portions, unless such repair required as is the result

of an act or omission of Lessee, its representative’s employees, agents, or contractors.

e. To observe and comply with any and all present and future requirements of the
constituted public authority and with all federal, state or local statutes, ordinances,
regulations, standards, conditions and agreements applicable to Lessee for its use of the
Leased Premises, including, but not limited to, ordinances, rules and regulations
promulgated from time to time by or at the direction of Lessor for the administration of the
Airport; at its own expense to submit to and comply with the requirements of all state and
federal regulatory agencies or municipal boards having jurisdiction over the construction of any
fixed improvements on the Leased Premises, including, but not limited to, any Environmental
Board or Board of Health; and at its own expense to comply with the standards for accessible
design known as the Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines in connection with
any new construction or alteration of the Leased Premises. Lessee shall bear the burden of this
obligation regardless of whether any such Agency or Board shall require that Lessor be the

applicant of record.

f. Lessee shall carry comprehensive general liability insurance with responsible
insurance underwriters, qualified to transact business in the State of Vermont, insuring Lessee
and Lessor, as their interests may appear, against all legal liability for injuries to persons
(including wrongful death) and damages to property caused by Lessee's use and occupancy of
the Leased Premises or otherwise caused by Lessee's activities or operations thereon (including
any act or omission by Lessee, its agents, employees, or contractors, resulting in the release of
hazardous substances as defined in paragraph 12 below) with liability limits of not less than
$3,000,000 for any one person, and not less than $5,000,000 for any accident involving injury
(including wrongful death) to more than one person and not less than $5,000,000 for property
damage resulting from any one accident. In addition, Lessee shall maintain fire, casualty,

worker's compensation, business interruption (in sufficient amounts so as to enable Lessee to
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meet its rent obligations), flood and other appropriate types of coverage with insurers
acceptable to Lessor, in such amounts as are acceptable to Lessor including hazard and
extended coverage covering all leasehold improvements (excluding building, parking lot and
utilities), chattels, furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipment located on the premises.
Such policies shall name Lessor as additional insured. Such policies shall also contain a
standard or "New York" loss payable clause and shall provide for at least thirty (30) days
prior written notification to Lessor of any termination, cancellations or material
modification of such policies. Lessee shall, within ten (10) days after the execution of this
Lease Agreement, furnish Lessor with certificates of such insurance, which shall provide
that Lessor is an insured under said policy. Thereafter, Lessee shall furnish Lessor with
certificates of such insurance at no less than six month intervals during the term of this Lease
Agreement. Lessor shall have the right to examine such insurance policies upon reasonable

notice to Lessee.

g. To pay directly to the taxing authority any and all personal property inventory
taxes or assessments which may be assessed against the Leased Premises and its contents during

the term hereof or any renewal term.

h. To commit no actionable waste or nuisance upon the Leased Premises and shall
not do or permit to be done anything which may result in the creation, commission or

maintenance of any such waste or nuisance on said premises or the Airport.

i. To erect, construct, install, or make, or cause to be erected, constructed,
installed, or made, all improvements on or to the Leased Premises which are deemed fit or
proper for the conduct of its business. All additions or improvements shall be subject to the
prior written consent of Lessor, said consent not to be unreasonably withheld. All new
construction and alterations of the Leased Premises shall be at the expense of Lessee and
must comply with the standards for accessible design known as the Americans with
Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. All improvements or alterations erected or made to
the premises shall on expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement belong to Lessor
without compensation to Lessee. All additions or improvements must comply with all Local,

State, and Federal regulations and the required permitting. All additions or improvements shall
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comply with all Federal Aviation Administration regulations which applies to proximity of an

airport.

J. To observe and comply with any and all present and future security regulations and
procedures and operational procedures promulgated from time to time by or at the direction of

Lessor for the administration of the Airport.

K. That the management, maintenance and operation of the Leased Premises shall
at all times be under the supervision and direction of an active, qualified, competent
representative of Lessee, and Lessee shall identify its representative, and any successor, in

writing to Lessor.

l. To properly handle, remove and dispose of any and all lubricants and/or hazardous

waste and to maintain the demised premises in a clean and safe condition.

9. LESSOR OBLIGATIONS - Lessor shall provide the building in an as is condition.

10. ENTRY OF PREMISES - Lessor, and its authorized officers, employees, agents, contractors,

sub-contractors and other representatives, shall have the right to enter upon the Leased Premises for the
following purposes:

a. To inspect the Leased Premises at reasonable intervals during regular business hours (or
at any time in case of emergency) to determine whether Lessee has complied and is
complying with the terms and conditions of this Lease Agreement and Lessee shall provide
the Director of Aviation with serviceable keys to all of its facilities so as to permit the
exercise of Lessor's rights hereunder; To perform essential maintenance, repair, relocation
or removal of existing underground or overhead wires, pipes, drains, cables and conduits
now located on or across the Leased Premises, and to construct, maintain, repair,
relocate and remove such facilities in the future if necessary to carry out the master plan of
development of the Airport provided, however, that said work shall in no event disrupt or
unduly interfere with the operations of Lessee. Nothing herein shall be construed to
impose upon Lessor any obligations so to construct or maintain or to make repairs,

replacements, alterations or additions, or shall create any liability for any failure to do
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so. Lessee is and shall be in exclusive possession of the Leased Premises and Lessor
shall not in any event be liable for any damage to the premises or to any property of Lessee
or of any other persons located in or thereupon, other than to repair or remedy such damage
as may be occasioned by negligence of Lessor, its employees or agents.

11. INDEMNIFICATION - Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and save harmless Lessor, its

officers, agents and employees, including the Board of Airport Commissioners of the City of

Burlington, their successors and assigns, individually or collectively, from and against all
liability for any fines, claims, suits, liens, demands, actions or cause of action of any kind and
nature for personal injury, death or property damage in any way arising out of or resulting from
any activity or operation of Lessee on the Leased Premises or the Airport, and Lessee further
agrees to pay all expenses in defending against any such claims made against Lessor, its
officers, agents and employees, including the Board of Airport Commissioners of the City of
Burlington, their successors and assigns, individually or collectively, provided, however, that
Lessee shall not be liable for any injury, damage or loss occasioned by the sole negligence or
willful misconduct of the Lessor its officers, agents and employees, including the Board of
Airport Commissioners of the City of Burlington, their successors and assigns. Lessee shall give
prompt and timely notice to Lessor (and copying the City of Burlington at: Attention: City
Attorney, City Hall, Burlington, VT 05401) of any claim made or suit instituted which, in

any way, directly or indirectly contingently or otherwise, affects or may affect Lessor.

12. HAZARDOUS WASTES - Lessee at its own expense shall properly handle, remove and dispose

of any and all lubricants and/or hazardous waste and/or hazardous substances and shall maintain the

Leased Premises in a clean and safe condition.

In addition, Lessee unconditionally, absolutely and irrevocably indemnifies and agrees to
defend and hold harmless Lessor from and against all loss, cost and expense (including, without
limitation, attorney's fees) of whatever nature suffered or incurred by Lessor on account of the
existence on the Leased Premises, or the release or discharge from the Leased Premises, of
hazardous substances resulting from any act or omission of Lessee, its employees, agents, or
contractors,” including, without limitation, any claims, costs, losses, liabilities and expenses

arising from the violation (or claimed violation) of any environmental laws or the institution of
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any action by any party against Lessor or the Leased Premises based upon nuisance, negligence
or other tort theory alleging liability due to the improper generation, storage, disposal, removal,
transportation or treatment of hazardous substances or the imposition of a lien on any part of the
Leased Premises under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., as amended ("CERCLA"), or any other laws
pursuant to which a lien may be imposed due to the existence of hazardous substances. Lessee
further unconditionally, absolutely, and irrevocably guarantees the payment of any fees and
expenses incurred by Lessor in enforcing or seeking enforcement of the liability of Lessee under
this indemnification. Lessee shall not be required to indemnify and/or hold harmless Lessor for
any loss, cost or expense resulting from any "hazardous substances," the presence of which

predates Lessee's entry on/into the premises.

For the purposes of this Section, "hazardous substances™ shall mean and include, but shall
not be limited to, any element, substance, compound or mixture, including disease- causing
agents, which after release into the environment or work place and upon exposure, ingestion,
inhalation or assimilation into any organism, either directly or indirectly, will or may reasonably be
anticipated to cause death, disease, behavioral abnormalities, cancer, genetic mutation,
physiological malfunctions, including malfunctions in reproduction or physical deformations in
such organisms or their offsprings, and all hazardous and toxic substances, wastes or materials,
any pollutants or contaminants (including, without limitation, asbestos and raw materials which
include hazardous constituents), or any other similar substances, or materials which are included
under or regulated by any local, state or federal law, rule or regulation pertaining to
environmental regulation, contamination, clean-up or disclosure, including, without limitation,
CERCLA, and regulations adopted pursuant to such Acts, the Toxic Substances Control Act of
1976, as heretofore or currently in effect ("TSCA") and the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, as heretofore or currently in effect (RCRA™).

13. QUIET ENJOYMENT - Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee as follows:

a. It has lawful possession of the Leased Premises and good and lawful authority to

execute this instrument;

b. Throughout the term hereof; Lessee may have, hold and enjoy peaceful and
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uninterrupted possession of the Leased Premises and rights herein leased and granted, subject to

performance by Lessee of its obligations herein.

14. LESSOR CANCELLATION RIGHTS - Lessor shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days'

advance written notice to Lessee, to cancel this Lease Agreement in its entirety, upon or after the

happening of one or more of the following events, if said event(s) shall then be continuing:

a. If Lessee shall fail for thirty (30) days after the due date to pay the rental charges or
other money payments required by this Lease Agreement;

b. If Lessee shall default in fulfilling any of the other terms or conditions of this Lease
Agreement and shall fail to remedy said default within thirty (30) days following Lessee's receipt of
written demand from Lessor to do so except that if the nature of such default is such that it cannot
be remedied within said thirty (30) days, then Lessor shall have the right to cancel if Lessee shall
have failed to commence remedying such default within said thirty (30) days or, having so

commenced, shall fail thereafter to continue with diligence the curing thereof;

c. If Lessee or any sublessee shall voluntarily abandon and discontinue the conduct and

operation of its service at the Airport for a continuous period of sixty (60) days.

d. If the fixed improvements upon the leased premises shall be totally destroyed or so
extensively damaged that it would be impracticable or uneconomical to restore the same to their

previous condition.

15. LESSEE CANCELLATION RIGHTS — In addition to what is set forth in Section 2 above,

Lessee shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days' advance written notice to Lessor, to cancel this

Lease Agreement in its entirety upon or after the happening of one or more of the following events, if
said event(s) shall then be continuing:

a. The issuance by any court of competent jurisdiction of an injunction, order or
decree preventing or restraining the use by Lessee of all or any substantial part of the Leased Premises
or preventing or restraining the use of the Airport for usual Airport purposes in its entirety, or the use
of any part thereof which may be used by Lessee and which is necessary for Lessee's operations on
the Airport, which remains in force, unvacated or unstayed for a period of at least sixty (60) days;
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b. Lessor's default in the performance of any of the terms or conditions imposed upon it
by this Lease Agreement and its failure to cure such default within a period of sixty (60) days
following Lessor's receipt of written demand from Lessee to do so, except that, if the nature of such
default is such that it cannot be cured within said sixty (60) days, then Lessee shall have the right to
cancel if Lessor shall have failed to commence remedying such default within sixty (60) days or,
having so commenced, shall fail thereafter to continue with diligence the curing thereof;

C. If the fixed improvements upon the Leased Premises shall be totally destroyed, or so
extensively damaged that it would be impracticable or uneconomical to restore the same to their
previous condition, Lessee may opt to cancel the Lease Agreement if the building is not restored to
functional within 30 days. Rent will be "per diem" abated for any days the building is not
reasonably functional.

d. In the event of destruction of all or a material portion of the Airport or the
Airport facilities, or in the event that any agency or instrumentality of the federal or any state or
local government shall occupy the Airport or a substantial part thereof, or in the event of military
mobilization or public emergency wherein there is a curtailment, either by executive decree or
legislative action of normal civilian traffic at the Airport or of the use of airplanes by the general
public, and any of said events shall result in material interference with Lessee's normal operations

continuing for a period in excess of sixty (60) days.

16. LIENS - Lessee shall cause to be removed any and all mechanic's or materialman's liens of any
nature arising out of or because of any construction performed by Lessee upon the Leased Premises
or arising out of or because of the performance of any work or labor upon or the furnishing of any
materials for use at the Leased Premises, by or at the direction of Lessee within reasonable time not to

exceed six (6) months from the completion of any such construction.

17. FORCE MAJEURE - Neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be deemed in violation of this Lease

Agreement if it is prevented from performing any of its obligations hereunder by reason of

acts of God, acts of the public enemy, acts of superior governmental authority, weather
conditions, riots, rebellion, sabotage, or any other circumstances for which it is not responsible or
which is not under its control, and the party experiencing force majeure gives written notice to
the other party identifying the nature of such force majeure, and when it began. The party

experiencing force majeure shall take immediate action to attempt to remove such causes of
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force majeure as may occur from time to time and its operations under this Lease Agreement
shall be resumed immediately after such cause has been removed, provided that neither party
shall be required to settle any labor dispute except upon terms that party deems acceptable. The
suspension of any obligations under this section shall not cause the term of this Lease
Agreement to be extended and shall not affect any rights accrued under this Lease Agreement
prior to the occurrence of the force majeure. The party giving notice of the force majeure shall
also give notice of its cessation. It is specifically understood and agreed that nothing herein
contained shall be construed as granting or authorizing the granting of an exclusive right within the
meaning of Section 308 of Federal Aviation Act of 1958.

18. NONDISCRIMINATION - Lessee, for itself, its personal representatives, successors in

interest and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree, as a
covenant running with the land, that (1) no person on the grounds of race, color, national
origin or sex shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise
subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any
improvements on, over or under said land and the furnishing of services hereon, no person on the
grounds of race, color, national origin or sex shall be excluded from participation in, denied the
benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that Lessee shall use the premises
in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of
Federal Regulations Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary Part 21
Non-Discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the Department of Transportation -
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said Regulations may be
amended. Lessee further agrees that in the event of breach of any of the above non-
discrimination covenants, Lessor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and to re-enter
and repossess said land and facilities thereon, and hold the same as if said Agreement had never
been made or issued. Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as
required by 14 C.F.R., Part 152 Subpart E, to insure that no persons shall on the grounds of race,
creed, color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment
activities covered in 14 C.F.R., Part 152, Subpart E. Lessee assures that no person shall be
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of any

program or activity covered by the subpart. Lessee assures that it will require that its covered
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sub organizations provide assurances to Lessor that they similarly will undertake affirmative
action programs and that they will require For Lessee: or to such other address as the party to
be given such notice shall from time to time designate to the other by notice given in
accordance herewith.

19. WAIVER - No acceptance by Lessor of rentals, fees, charges or other payments in whole
or in part. for any period or periods after a default of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions
hereof, to be performed, kept or observed by Lessee, shall be deemed a waiver of any right on
the part of Lessor to terminate this Lease Agreement. A waiver by Lessor of any default of
Lessee, or by Lessee of any default by Lessor in the performance of any of the covenants,
terms or conditions of this Lease Agreement shall not be deemed or considered to be a
waiver of any other matter, and the various rights, powers, privileges, options and remedies
of Lessor and Lessee herein contained shall be cumulative, and no one of them shall be
deemed to be exclusive of any other, or exclusive of any rights, powers, privileges, options or

remedies provided by law.

20. BINDING - All covenants, stipulations and agreements in this Lease Agreement shall
extend to and bind the legal representatives, successors and assigns of the respective parties

hereto.

21. MODIFICATION - This Lease Agreement shall not be varied in its terms by any oral

agreement or representation, or otherwise than by an instrument in writing of subsequent date

hereto executed by both parties by their respective officers or other persons duly authorized.

22. INVALIDITY - Inthe event any term, covenant or condition herein contained is held to be
invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other term,
covenant or condition herein contained, provided that such invalidity does not materially
prejudice either Lessor or Lessee in their respective rights and obligations contained in the
valid terms, covenants or conditions hereof. The sectional or paragraph headings throughout
this Lease Agreement are for the convenience of Lessor and Lease and are not intended nor
shall they be used to construe the intent of this Lease Agreement or any part hereof, or to
modify, amplify, or aid in the interpretation or construction of any of the provisions hereof. The
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language in all parts of this Lease Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply according to its
fair meaning and not strictly construed against Lessor, it being stipulated and agreed that

Lessee participated in the drafting hereof.

23. CONTROLLING LAW - This Lease Agreement shall be construed and performance

thereof shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of VVermont.

24. NOTICES, CONSENTS, APPROVALS - All notices, consents, and approvals required

or authorized by this Agreement to be given by or on behalf of either party to the other, shall

be in writing and signed by a duly designated representative of the party by or on whose
behalf they are given.

CITY:

Director of Aviation

Burlington International Airport
1200 Airport Drive #1

South Burlington, Vermont 05403

LESSEE:
Enterprise Rent-A-Car, ELRAC, LLC.

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused these presents to be executed by their respective
officer or representative thereunto duly authorized, the day and year first above written.
CITY OF BURLINGTON

BY:
Witness Gene Richards, Director of Aviation
STATE OF VERMONT
COUNTY OF CHITTENDEN, SS.
Dated at Burlington, Vermont, this day of , 2017, personally appeared Gene

Richards, Director of Aviation, City of Burlington, and acknowledged the foregoing instrument

by him signed and sealed to be his free act and deed and the free act and deed of the City of

Burlington.
Before me,

Notary Public

Commission Expires:
ELRAC, LLC

BY:

Witness , Owner
STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF , SS
Dated at , this day of 2017, personally
appeared before me, ,and acknowledged the foregoing

instrument by him signed and sealed to be his free act and deed and the free act and deed
of

Before me,
Notary Public
Commission Expires:
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Lot Size: 2.64 acres

Exhibit "A"
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LEASE AGREEMENT FOR 700 AIRPORT PARKWAY BETWEEN
BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AND ELRAC, LLC

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT executed this ____ day of , 2017 by and

between the City of Burlington, a municipal corporation in the State of Vermont (hereinafter called

"Lessor" or "City"), and ELRAC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company authorized to do business

in the State of Vermont (hereinafter called "Lessee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Lessor owns and operates an airport known as the Burlington
International Airport located in South Burlington, Vermont, which airport and any additions or
improvements thereto or changes therein which the City hereafter makes or authorizes are

hereinafter collectively called the "Airport"”; and

WHEREAS, Lessor wishes to enter into a lease for a certain portion of lands and
improvements it owns, in the interest of furthering and carrying on its purpose in the operation of

the Airport and in the public interest and the interest of public airport purposes.

WHEREAS, Lessee desires to lease certain premises owned by Lessor on the
Airport as hereinafter described, together with certain rights and privileges in
connection therewith for the purpose of automobile rental car storage, prep, repair,

cleaning, sales, and related uses;

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and of the mutual

covenants and promises herein contained, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follow

1. PREMISES. - Lessor hereby leases to Lessee for its exclusive use, and Lessee hereby
hires and takes from Lessor, the building known as 700 Airport Parkway, consisting of Four
Thousand One Hundred and Fifty-Four (4,154) square feet of industrial space, together with a
parcel of land consisting of approximately 2.64 acres located adjacent to the 700 Airport Parkway
Building, with an estimated 70,000 square foot parking lot as shown on the plans or sketches
attached hereto and marked Exhibit "A” and hereby specifically made a part hereof, to have

and to hold the said premises (collectively referred to hereinafter as the 'Leased Premises").
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2. TERM - The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years with one (1) additional five (5)
year option. This Agreement shall be subject to termination by either Lessor or Lessee, following
Lessor’s fit up as described more fully below, at either party's sole discretion, on not less than
Ninety (90) days advance written notice.

3. RENTAL - The Rental term shall commence April 1, 2017, or ninety (90) days after the
receipt of local permits, whichever dates comes sooner. For and during the term hereof,
Lessee shall pay Lessor the following annual rentals for the use and occupancy of the Leased
Premises in equal monthly instaliments in advance, on or before the first business day of each
calendar month of the term, at the office of the Director of Aviation, Burlington International
Airport, 1200 Airport Drive # 1, South Burlington, Vermont 05403:

Year 1 — Effective April 1, 2017, or 90 days after receipt of Permits (whichever
COMmes sooner):

$27,066 per annum

$2,255.50 monthly

$6.50 per square foot

Year 2 — Effective 1, 2018:

$30,000 per annum

$2,500 monthly

$7.20 per square foot

Year 3 — Effective 1, 2019

$36,000 per annum

$3,000 per month

$8.65 per square foot

Year 4 - Effective 1, 2020

3% annual increase from 2019
Year 5 — Effective 1, 2021

3% annual increase from 2020

In addition to the above:
a. Rent shall be due in advance of the first day of each month, without demand, for the
duration of this Agreement.

b. Any amounts payable which shall not have been paid when due shall bear interest at the
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rate of one and a half percent (1 1/2%) per month, which interest shall be paid by Lessee
in addition to such amount.

c. Renewals — Provided Lessee is not in default of lease terms and conditions
further described and subject to the prior approval of the City of Burlington City Council,
Lessee has the right to renew the lease agreement for an additional five (5) year option.

Written authorization of this extension shall be 90 days prior to the end of the initial term.

4. TAXES AND INSURANCE - Lessee shall also pay taxes and insurance on the property

estimated to be $3.00 per square foot or $1,041 per month in addition to the above referenced

rental amount, with an increase per year in the amount of 3% over the previous year.

5. SECURITY DEPOSIT - Lessee shall provide a security deposit equivalent to one months’

rent, as well as first months’ rent prior to lessees’ move in date.

6. USE OF PREMISES - The Leased Premises shall be used and occupied solely as an automobile

rental car storage, prep, repair, cleaning, sales, and related business. Without limiting the
foregoing, but merely by way of example, Lessee shall not use any portion of the Leased Premises
to conduct any operations that will compete with any other businesses presently leasing from
Lessor, with one example being the operation of a long-term parking facility for Airport
customers. Any and all business uses must be approved in advance by the Director of Aviation to

ensure that it will not affect the business of the Airport in a negative way.

7._AGREEMENT SUBORDINATE - This Agreement shall be subject and subordinate to the

following:

a. Lessor reserves the right to take any action it considers necessary to protect the
aerial approaches of the Airport against obstruction, together with the right to prevent Lessee
from erecting or permitting or causing to be erected any building or other structure which, in
the sole opinion of Lessor, would limit the usefulness of the Airport or constitute a hazard to
aircraft;

b. This Agreement shall be subordinate to the provisions of any existing or any future
agreement between Lessor and the State of Vermont and/or the United States of America relative to
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the operation or maintenance of the Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as
a condition precedent to the expenditure of Federal or State Funds for the development of the
Airport.

C. Lessor's right, during time of war or national emergency to lease the landing
facilities or any part thereof, or to otherwise permit the use thereof on an exclusive basis, by the
United States of America or the State of Vermont for military use; the provisions of this
Agreement, to the extent that they are inconsistent with these superior rights, shall be
suspended during any such period.

8. LESSEE OBLIGATIONS - Lessee covenants and agrees at its own expense:

a. This Lease Agreement is contingent upon Lessee receiving all federal, state and
local approvals required for the operation of an automobile rental car storage, prep, repair,

cleaning, sales, and related business;

b. To pay the rent and other charges herein reserved at such times and places as the

same are payable;

C. To accept the premises “AS IS”, to furnish the Leased Premises, to transfer all utilities
into Lessor’s name, and to pay all charges for telephone service, sewage service, storm water,
janitorial services, trash and/or hazardous waste removal, snow removal and janitorial service,
water, electric power, heat, gas, air conditioning and other public utilities of every kind and to

transfer these utilities in the Lessee’s name;

d. To perform construction estimated cost being $19.95 per square foot, as shown in
Exhibit B, securing all necessary federal, state, and local permits as required and using licensed
contractors to do so, to keep and maintain all parts of the Leased Premises, including related and
associated appurtenances, in good condition, order and repair during the term of this
Agreement, including but not limited to painting, lighting, removal of snow and garbage,
landscaping, replacement of broken glass with glass the same size and quality of that
broken, installed and operating equipment, and utility services. All maintenance shall be
subject to general monitoring by Lessor to insure a continuing high quality of appearance

commensurate with maintenance and safety standards of the Airport. Lessee shall not be
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responsible for maintenance and repair of any portion of utility lines which are located outside
of the building in which the demised premises are located, unless such repair is required as the
result of an act or omission of Lessee, its representatives, employees, agents, or contractors.
Lessor shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the structure of the building,
including the roof, foundation and exterior portions, unless such repair required as is the result

of an act or omission of Lessee, its representative’s employees, agents, or contractors.

e. To observe and comply with any and all present and future requirements of the
constituted public authority and with all federal, state or local statutes, ordinances,
regulations, standards, conditions and agreements applicable to Lessee for its use of the
Leased Premises, including, but not limited to, ordinances, rules and regulations
promulgated from time to time by or at the direction of Lessor for the administration of the
Airport; at its own expense to submit to and comply with the requirements of all state and
federal regulatory agencies or municipal boards having jurisdiction over the construction of any
fixed improvements on the Leased Premises, including, but not limited to, any Environmental
Board or Board of Health; and at its own expense to comply with the standards for accessible
design known as the Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines in connection with
any new construction or alteration of the Leased Premises. Lessee shall bear the burden of this
obligation regardless of whether any such Agency or Board shall require that Lessor be the

applicant of record.

f. Lessee shall carry comprehensive general liability insurance with responsible
insurance underwriters, qualified to transact business in the State of Vermont, insuring Lessee
and Lessor, as their interests may appear, against all legal liability for injuries to persons
(including wrongful death) and damages to property caused by Lessee's use and occupancy of
the Leased Premises or otherwise caused by Lessee's activities or operations thereon (including
any act or omission by Lessee, its agents, employees, or contractors, resulting in the release of
hazardous substances as defined in paragraph 12 below) with liability limits of not less than
$3,000,000 for any one person, and not less than $5,000,000 for any accident involving injury
(including wrongful death) to more than one person and not less than $5,000,000 for property
damage resulting from any one accident. In addition, Lessee shall maintain fire, casualty,

worker's compensation, business interruption (in sufficient amounts so as to enable Lessee to
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meet its rent obligations), flood and other appropriate types of coverage with insurers
acceptable to Lessor, in such amounts as are acceptable to Lessor including hazard and
extended coverage covering all leasehold improvements (excluding building, parking lot and
utilities), chattels, furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipment located on the premises.
Such policies shall name Lessor as additional insured. Such policies shall also contain a
standard or "New York" loss payable clause and shall provide for at least thirty (30) days
prior written notification to Lessor of any termination, cancellations or material
modification of such policies. Lessee shall, within ten (10) days after the execution of this
Lease Agreement, furnish Lessor with certificates of such insurance, which shall provide
that Lessor is an insured under said policy. Thereafter, Lessee shall furnish Lessor with
certificates of such insurance at no less than six month intervals during the term of this Lease
Agreement. Lessor shall have the right to examine such insurance policies upon reasonable

notice to Lessee.

g. To pay directly to the taxing authority any and all personal property inventory
taxes or assessments which may be assessed against the Leased Premises and its contents during

the term hereof or any renewal term.

h. To commit no actionable waste or nuisance upon the Leased Premises and shall
not do or permit to be done anything which may result in the creation, commission or

maintenance of any such waste or nuisance on said premises or the Airport.

i. To erect, construct, install, or make, or cause to be erected, constructed,
installed, or made, all improvements on or to the Leased Premises which are deemed fit or
proper for the conduct of its business. All additions or improvements shall be subject to the
prior written consent of Lessor, said consent not to be unreasonably withheld. All new
construction and alterations of the Leased Premises shall be at the expense of Lessee and
must comply with the standards for accessible design known as the Americans with
Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. All improvements or alterations erected or made to
the premises shall on expiration or sooner termination of this Agreement belong to Lessor
without compensation to Lessee. All additions or improvements must comply with all Local,

State, and Federal regulations and the required permitting. All additions or improvements shall
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comply with all Federal Aviation Administration regulations which applies to proximity of an

airport.

J. To observe and comply with any and all present and future security regulations and
procedures and operational procedures promulgated from time to time by or at the direction of

Lessor for the administration of the Airport.

K. That the management, maintenance and operation of the Leased Premises shall
at all times be under the supervision and direction of an active, qualified, competent
representative of Lessee, and Lessee shall identify its representative, and any successor, in

writing to Lessor.

l. To properly handle, remove and dispose of any and all lubricants and/or hazardous

waste and to maintain the demised premises in a clean and safe condition.

9. LESSOR OBLIGATIONS - Lessor shall provide the building in an as is condition.

10. ENTRY OF PREMISES - Lessor, and its authorized officers, employees, agents, contractors,

sub-contractors and other representatives, shall have the right to enter upon the Leased Premises for the
following purposes:

a. To inspect the Leased Premises at reasonable intervals during regular business hours (or
at any time in case of emergency) to determine whether Lessee has complied and is
complying with the terms and conditions of this Lease Agreement and Lessee shall provide
the Director of Aviation with serviceable keys to all of its facilities so as to permit the
exercise of Lessor's rights hereunder; To perform essential maintenance, repair, relocation
or removal of existing underground or overhead wires, pipes, drains, cables and conduits
now located on or across the Leased Premises, and to construct, maintain, repair,
relocate and remove such facilities in the future if necessary to carry out the master plan of
development of the Airport provided, however, that said work shall in no event disrupt or
unduly interfere with the operations of Lessee. Nothing herein shall be construed to
impose upon Lessor any obligations so to construct or maintain or to make repairs,

replacements, alterations or additions, or shall create any liability for any failure to do
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so. Lessee is and shall be in exclusive possession of the Leased Premises and Lessor
shall not in any event be liable for any damage to the premises or to any property of Lessee
or of any other persons located in or thereupon, other than to repair or remedy such damage
as may be occasioned by negligence of Lessor, its employees or agents.

11. INDEMNIFICATION - Lessee shall indemnify, defend, and save harmless Lessor, its

officers, agents and employees, including the Board of Airport Commissioners of the City of

Burlington, their successors and assigns, individually or collectively, from and against all
liability for any fines, claims, suits, liens, demands, actions or cause of action of any kind and
nature for personal injury, death or property damage in any way arising out of or resulting from
any activity or operation of Lessee on the Leased Premises or the Airport, and Lessee further
agrees to pay all expenses in defending against any such claims made against Lessor, its
officers, agents and employees, including the Board of Airport Commissioners of the City of
Burlington, their successors and assigns, individually or collectively, provided, however, that
Lessee shall not be liable for any injury, damage or loss occasioned by the sole negligence or
willful misconduct of the Lessor its officers, agents and employees, including the Board of
Airport Commissioners of the City of Burlington, their successors and assigns. Lessee shall give
prompt and timely notice to Lessor (and copying the City of Burlington at: Attention: City
Attorney, City Hall, Burlington, VT 05401) of any claim made or suit instituted which, in

any way, directly or indirectly contingently or otherwise, affects or may affect Lessor.

12. HAZARDOUS WASTES - Lessee at its own expense shall properly handle, remove and dispose

of any and all lubricants and/or hazardous waste and/or hazardous substances and shall maintain the

Leased Premises in a clean and safe condition.

In addition, Lessee unconditionally, absolutely and irrevocably indemnifies and agrees to
defend and hold harmless Lessor from and against all loss, cost and expense (including, without
limitation, attorney's fees) of whatever nature suffered or incurred by Lessor on account of the
existence on the Leased Premises, or the release or discharge from the Leased Premises, of
hazardous substances resulting from any act or omission of Lessee, its employees, agents, or
contractors,” including, without limitation, any claims, costs, losses, liabilities and expenses

arising from the violation (or claimed violation) of any environmental laws or the institution of
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any action by any party against Lessor or the Leased Premises based upon nuisance, negligence
or other tort theory alleging liability due to the improper generation, storage, disposal, removal,
transportation or treatment of hazardous substances or the imposition of a lien on any part of the
Leased Premises under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., as amended ("CERCLA"), or any other laws
pursuant to which a lien may be imposed due to the existence of hazardous substances. Lessee
further unconditionally, absolutely, and irrevocably guarantees the payment of any fees and
expenses incurred by Lessor in enforcing or seeking enforcement of the liability of Lessee under
this indemnification. Lessee shall not be required to indemnify and/or hold harmless Lessor for
any loss, cost or expense resulting from any "hazardous substances," the presence of which

predates Lessee's entry on/into the premises.

For the purposes of this Section, "hazardous substances™ shall mean and include, but shall
not be limited to, any element, substance, compound or mixture, including disease- causing
agents, which after release into the environment or work place and upon exposure, ingestion,
inhalation or assimilation into any organism, either directly or indirectly, will or may reasonably be
anticipated to cause death, disease, behavioral abnormalities, cancer, genetic mutation,
physiological malfunctions, including malfunctions in reproduction or physical deformations in
such organisms or their offsprings, and all hazardous and toxic substances, wastes or materials,
any pollutants or contaminants (including, without limitation, asbestos and raw materials which
include hazardous constituents), or any other similar substances, or materials which are included
under or regulated by any local, state or federal law, rule or regulation pertaining to
environmental regulation, contamination, clean-up or disclosure, including, without limitation,
CERCLA, and regulations adopted pursuant to such Acts, the Toxic Substances Control Act of
1976, as heretofore or currently in effect ("TSCA") and the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, as heretofore or currently in effect (RCRA™).

13. QUIET ENJOYMENT - Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee as follows:

a. It has lawful possession of the Leased Premises and good and lawful authority to

execute this instrument;

b. Throughout the term hereof; Lessee may have, hold and enjoy peaceful and
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uninterrupted possession of the Leased Premises and rights herein leased and granted, subject to

performance by Lessee of its obligations herein.

14. LESSOR CANCELLATION RIGHTS - Lessor shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days'

advance written notice to Lessee, to cancel this Lease Agreement in its entirety, upon or after the

happening of one or more of the following events, if said event(s) shall then be continuing:

a. If Lessee shall fail for thirty (30) days after the due date to pay the rental charges or
other money payments required by this Lease Agreement;

b. If Lessee shall default in fulfilling any of the other terms or conditions of this Lease
Agreement and shall fail to remedy said default within thirty (30) days following Lessee's receipt of
written demand from Lessor to do so except that if the nature of such default is such that it cannot
be remedied within said thirty (30) days, then Lessor shall have the right to cancel if Lessee shall
have failed to commence remedying such default within said thirty (30) days or, having so

commenced, shall fail thereafter to continue with diligence the curing thereof;

c. If Lessee or any sublessee shall voluntarily abandon and discontinue the conduct and

operation of its service at the Airport for a continuous period of sixty (60) days.

d. If the fixed improvements upon the leased premises shall be totally destroyed or so
extensively damaged that it would be impracticable or uneconomical to restore the same to their

previous condition.

15. LESSEE CANCELLATION RIGHTS — In addition to what is set forth in Section 2 above,

Lessee shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days' advance written notice to Lessor, to cancel this

Lease Agreement in its entirety upon or after the happening of one or more of the following events, if
said event(s) shall then be continuing:

a. The issuance by any court of competent jurisdiction of an injunction, order or
decree preventing or restraining the use by Lessee of all or any substantial part of the Leased Premises
or preventing or restraining the use of the Airport for usual Airport purposes in its entirety, or the use
of any part thereof which may be used by Lessee and which is necessary for Lessee's operations on
the Airport, which remains in force, unvacated or unstayed for a period of at least sixty (60) days;
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b. Lessor's default in the performance of any of the terms or conditions imposed upon it
by this Lease Agreement and its failure to cure such default within a period of sixty (60) days
following Lessor's receipt of written demand from Lessee to do so, except that, if the nature of such
default is such that it cannot be cured within said sixty (60) days, then Lessee shall have the right to
cancel if Lessor shall have failed to commence remedying such default within sixty (60) days or,
having so commenced, shall fail thereafter to continue with diligence the curing thereof;

C. If the fixed improvements upon the Leased Premises shall be totally destroyed, or so
extensively damaged that it would be impracticable or uneconomical to restore the same to their
previous condition, Lessee may opt to cancel the Lease Agreement if the building is not restored to
functional within 30 days. Rent will be "per diem" abated for any days the building is not
reasonably functional.

d. In the event of destruction of all or a material portion of the Airport or the
Airport facilities, or in the event that any agency or instrumentality of the federal or any state or
local government shall occupy the Airport or a substantial part thereof, or in the event of military
mobilization or public emergency wherein there is a curtailment, either by executive decree or
legislative action of normal civilian traffic at the Airport or of the use of airplanes by the general
public, and any of said events shall result in material interference with Lessee's normal operations

continuing for a period in excess of sixty (60) days.

16. LIENS - Lessee shall cause to be removed any and all mechanic's or materialman's liens of any
nature arising out of or because of any construction performed by Lessee upon the Leased Premises
or arising out of or because of the performance of any work or labor upon or the furnishing of any
materials for use at the Leased Premises, by or at the direction of Lessee within reasonable time not to

exceed six (6) months from the completion of any such construction.

17. FORCE MAJEURE - Neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be deemed in violation of this Lease

Agreement if it is prevented from performing any of its obligations hereunder by reason of

acts of God, acts of the public enemy, acts of superior governmental authority, weather
conditions, riots, rebellion, sabotage, or any other circumstances for which it is not responsible or
which is not under its control, and the party experiencing force majeure gives written notice to
the other party identifying the nature of such force majeure, and when it began. The party

experiencing force majeure shall take immediate action to attempt to remove such causes of
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force majeure as may occur from time to time and its operations under this Lease Agreement
shall be resumed immediately after such cause has been removed, provided that neither party
shall be required to settle any labor dispute except upon terms that party deems acceptable. The
suspension of any obligations under this section shall not cause the term of this Lease
Agreement to be extended and shall not affect any rights accrued under this Lease Agreement
prior to the occurrence of the force majeure. The party giving notice of the force majeure shall
also give notice of its cessation. It is specifically understood and agreed that nothing herein
contained shall be construed as granting or authorizing the granting of an exclusive right within the
meaning of Section 308 of Federal Aviation Act of 1958.

18. NONDISCRIMINATION - Lessee, for itself, its personal representatives, successors in

interest and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree, as a
covenant running with the land, that (1) no person on the grounds of race, color, national
origin or sex shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or be otherwise
subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in the construction of any
improvements on, over or under said land and the furnishing of services hereon, no person on the
grounds of race, color, national origin or sex shall be excluded from participation in, denied the
benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that Lessee shall use the premises
in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of
Federal Regulations Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary Part 21
Non-Discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the Department of Transportation -
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said Regulations may be
amended. Lessee further agrees that in the event of breach of any of the above non-
discrimination covenants, Lessor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement and to re-enter
and repossess said land and facilities thereon, and hold the same as if said Agreement had never
been made or issued. Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as
required by 14 C.F.R., Part 152 Subpart E, to insure that no persons shall on the grounds of race,
creed, color, national origin, or sex be excluded from participating in any employment
activities covered in 14 C.F.R., Part 152, Subpart E. Lessee assures that no person shall be
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits of any

program or activity covered by the subpart. Lessee assures that it will require that its covered
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sub organizations provide assurances to Lessor that they similarly will undertake affirmative
action programs and that they will require For Lessee: or to such other address as the party to
be given such notice shall from time to time designate to the other by notice given in
accordance herewith.

19. WAIVER - No acceptance by Lessor of rentals, fees, charges or other payments in whole
or in part. for any period or periods after a default of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions
hereof, to be performed, kept or observed by Lessee, shall be deemed a waiver of any right on
the part of Lessor to terminate this Lease Agreement. A waiver by Lessor of any default of
Lessee, or by Lessee of any default by Lessor in the performance of any of the covenants,
terms or conditions of this Lease Agreement shall not be deemed or considered to be a
waiver of any other matter, and the various rights, powers, privileges, options and remedies
of Lessor and Lessee herein contained shall be cumulative, and no one of them shall be
deemed to be exclusive of any other, or exclusive of any rights, powers, privileges, options or

remedies provided by law.

20. BINDING - All covenants, stipulations and agreements in this Lease Agreement shall
extend to and bind the legal representatives, successors and assigns of the respective parties

hereto.

21. MODIFICATION - This Lease Agreement shall not be varied in its terms by any oral

agreement or representation, or otherwise than by an instrument in writing of subsequent date

hereto executed by both parties by their respective officers or other persons duly authorized.

22. INVALIDITY - Inthe event any term, covenant or condition herein contained is held to be
invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other term,
covenant or condition herein contained, provided that such invalidity does not materially
prejudice either Lessor or Lessee in their respective rights and obligations contained in the
valid terms, covenants or conditions hereof. The sectional or paragraph headings throughout
this Lease Agreement are for the convenience of Lessor and Lease and are not intended nor
shall they be used to construe the intent of this Lease Agreement or any part hereof, or to
modify, amplify, or aid in the interpretation or construction of any of the provisions hereof. The
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language in all parts of this Lease Agreement shall in all cases be construed simply according to its
fair meaning and not strictly construed against Lessor, it being stipulated and agreed that

Lessee participated in the drafting hereof.

23. CONTROLLING LAW - This Lease Agreement shall be construed and performance

thereof shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of VVermont.

24. NOTICES, CONSENTS, APPROVALS - All notices, consents, and approvals required

or authorized by this Agreement to be given by or on behalf of either party to the other, shall

be in writing and signed by a duly designated representative of the party by or on whose
behalf they are given.

CITY:

Director of Aviation

Burlington International Airport
1200 Airport Drive #1

South Burlington, Vermont 05403

LESSEE:
Enterprise Rent-A-Car, ELRAC, LLC.

Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused these presents to be executed by their respective
officer or representative thereunto duly authorized, the day and year first above written.
CITY OF BURLINGTON

BY:
Witness Gene Richards, Director of Aviation
STATE OF VERMONT
COUNTY OF CHITTENDEN, SS.
Dated at Burlington, Vermont, this day of , 2017, personally appeared Gene

Richards, Director of Aviation, City of Burlington, and acknowledged the foregoing instrument

by him signed and sealed to be his free act and deed and the free act and deed of the City of

Burlington.
Before me,

Notary Public

Commission Expires:
ELRAC, LLC

BY:

Witness , Owner
STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF , SS
Dated at , this day of 2017, personally
appeared before me, ,and acknowledged the foregoing

instrument by him signed and sealed to be his free act and deed and the free act and deed
of

Before me,
Notary Public
Commission Expires:
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Lot Size: 2.64 acres

Exhibit "A"

. o i

Lo o o v —— o = —
SETSIITERALTES

et
]
e T UV
— e -G A N
B 43 = o AN S
e (it
CUTININTY reats siac
' 1 A v
< R
T wemaset e
r wIe g
w (P OTtARAA
]
vt s

\M
o
//

Page 16 of 16



BURILINGTON INTERNATIONAIL. AIRPORT

MEMO

TO: Burlington International Airport, Board of Commissioners
City of Burlington, Board of Finance
City of Burlington, City Council

FROM: Burlington International Airport Staff
Nic Longo, Director of Planning and Development

DATE. January 17, 2017

SUBJECT: AIP-109 - Kirby Cottages Lease Agreements

The Burlington International Airport (BTV) seeks Airport Board of Commissioners
approval and recommendation to the City of Burlington Board of Finance and
City Council for multiple lease agreements for each house located at the Kirby
Cottages, Lily Lane South Burlington, Vermont. The Airport also request Board
of Finance approval and Recommendation to City Council, as well as City
Council Authorization for multiple leases at the Kirby Cottages.

As you are aware, the Airport is in the process of acquiring multiple homes within
the 73 dB DNL contour lines, from our Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)
Approved Noise Exposure Maps. This program is regulated by the FAA, and as
such, each of the houses and determination of next steps must be coordinated
with them. There are 7 homes located on Lily Lane, called the Kirby Cottages.
These homes are being acquired because they are located within the 75 dB DNL
line, making them ineligible for other mitigation strategies. It is the intention of
the Airport to do everything we can by following all Federal Regulations to
physically relocate these homes to satisfy the FAA’s program. Currently, the
Airport has acquired only 1 of the 7 properties.

By waiting for all 7 property owners to voluntarily sell as part of this program, we
would then be able to request bids to relocate these homes. We are working
with the FAA on making this program a success and reusing and/or recycling as
much of the houses as possible. Packaging all 7 properties would make this
more attractive to bid out competitively. As we work with each homeowner on
the sale of the remaining houses, which may take several months, we want to
preserve the quality of each of these homes in preparation of the bidding
process. By working strenuously with the FAA on different opportunities to
preserve these houses, we collaboratively came up with the attached rental lease

to occupy the house to deter vandalism and

1200 Airport Drive, #1 deterioration of the house. This is typically not
south Burlington, Vermont 05403 authorized, however, the FAA agrees with house
Phone: (802) 863-2874 (TTY) on the direction we are headed. The terms of

Fax: (802) 863-7947
www.btv.aero

The Burlington International Airport, City of Burlington is an Equal Opportunity Employer



Page 2 of 2 Airport Commission Approval and Recommendation to Board of Finance and City Council —
Property Lease at Kirby Cottages — Lily Lane — AIP-109

each of the houses will be strictly short term, and on a monthly basis. Because
this is a federal program, revenue streams are not authorized and therefore
these rentals will be rent free, although a refundable security deposit will be
collected. All utilities will also be transferred into the renter's name. Further,
these properties will only be authorized for, what the FAA and this lease refers to
as “Crew Quarters”. The definition of Crew is related to Airport Employees (not
City of Burlington) only, i.e., Airline Employees. The 7 Properties are located at
10 Lily Lane, 12 Lily Lane, 14 Lily Lane, 16 Lily Lane, 18 Lily Lane, 20 Lily Lane,
and 22 Lily Lane. We request Commission and Board of Finance approval and
recommendation as well as City Council authorization to lease out each of the
properties based on the attached lease.

Thank you for your continued support.



BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
SHORT TERM CREW QUARTERS RESIDENTIAL LEASE AGREEMENT
22 KIRBY LANE, SOUTH BURLINGTON, VT

This Lease Agreement is entered into by and between the Burlington International Airport

(“Lessor” or "Landlord™) and (“Lessee” or "Tenant™).

WITNESSETH:

In consideration of the rents herein reserved and the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties

hereto agree as follows:

1.

PREMISES: Landlord hereby demises and leases unto Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases
and takes from Landlord, for the purposes of having short term crew quarters as an airport
tenant employee, a certain residential dwelling owned by Landlord and located at ___ Lily
Lane in South Burlington, Vermont (the “Premises”).

TERM: This lease shall be for a month-to-month term commencing 2017 and
will expire on the earlier to occur of: (i) ; or (i) the date the Lessee vacates the
leased premises. The Lessee is required to remit keys to the Premises and surrender
possession of the Premises to the Lessor no later than . For the purpose of
this lease, “vacating" shall mean when the dwelling is no longer inhabited by Lessee or
anyone claiming under Lessee and all personal property has been removed.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Lease may be terminated
upon thirty (30) days written notice by the Lessor to the Lessee.

HOLD OVER: If Lessee remains in possession of the Premises after ,
rental for such tenancy shall be fixed at % ) per month.
Acceptance by the Lessor of rent after such termination shall not constitute a renewal of
this Lease or a consent to such occupancy. The provisions of this paragraph shall not
constitute a waiver by Lessor of any right of re-entry as hereinafter set forth; nor shall
receipt of any rent or any other act in apparent affirmance of tenancy operate as a waiver of
the right to terminate this lease for a breach of any of the covenants herein. Such tenancy
shall be wrongful and shall be deemed a violation of the terms of this Lease.

RENT: No rent shall be due for the term of the lease. Thereafter, see Paragraph 3 above.

SECURITY DEPOSIT: Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount of
and 00/100 Dollars ($3___.00) as a security deposit (the “Security Deposit™) for the faithful
performance and observance by Tenant of the terms and conditions of this Lease. Under no
circumstances may Tenant apply the security deposit towards the rental due during the Term
unless agreed in writing by Landlord. Landlord may retain all or a portion of the security
deposit for:

a. Non-payment of rent due pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Lease;

b. Damages incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s default or breach of any of the terms
and conditions of this Lease, including, but not limited to, damages to the Premises beyond
normal wear and tear caused by Tenant or Tenant’s guests or invitees, and attorney’s fees
and costs incurred by Landlord in enforcing the terms and conditions of this Lease.



c. Cleaning costs of the Premises incurred by Landlord.

d. Expenses required to remove and/or store personal property abandoned by Tenant in the
Premises.

e. Unpaid utility costs by tenant.

6. USE OF PREMISES: Tenant shall use the Premises for residential housing only, and no
other use will be allowed. No more than (__) persons shall reside in the
Premises at any time during the Term of this Lease, unless written approval is received by the
Director of Aviation, and all adults occupying the Premises must execute this Lease and
provide the remainder portion of the Fair Market VValue Rent which has been identified as an

additional and 00/100 Dollars ($___.00) a total of
and 00/100 Dollars ($ .00)
7. UTILITIES: The Lessee agrees that it will put into lessees name and pay all costs for all

utilities for the Premises, including but not limited to, water, gas, electricity, sewer charges,
telephone, and other utilities used or consumed upon the Premises as and when the charges
for the same become due and payable.

8. DAMAGES TO THE PREMISES/WASTE: Tenant shall not intentionally or negligently
commit waste or allow waste or other damage to be committed upon and to the Premises and
shall be liable to Landlord for all associated damages including, but not limited to, costs
incurred by Landlord for repairs to the Premises.

9. INSPECTION & RENTAL:

a. Landlord may enter the Premises with Tenant’s consent which shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

b. Landlord may also enter the Premises for the following purposes between the hours of
9:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. on no less than 48 hours’ notice:

I. When necessary to inspect the Premises;
ii. To make necessary or agreed repairs, alterations or improvements;
iii. To supply agreed upon services; or

iv. To exhibit the Premises to prospective or actual purchasers, mortgagees, tenants,
workers or contractors.

c. Landlord may enter the Premises without consent of or notice to Tenant when Landlord
has a reasonable belief that there is an emergency or imminent danger to any person or to

property.

10.  SUB-LEASE/ASSIGNMENT: Lessee is not permitted to post any “For Rent” signs, or
rent, sublet, assign or grant the use or possession of the leased premises in any matter.
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DEFAULT OR ABANDONMENT: Should the Lessee fail to: (i) pay the utility charges
for the premises; (ii) fail to maintain the premises; or (iii) violate any other provision of this
Lease, or should Lessee or any of Lessee’s guests or invitees fail to maintain a standard of
behavior consistent with the consideration necessary to provide reasonable safety, peace,
and quiet to neighbors such as being boisterous or disorderly, creating undue noise,
disturbance, or nuisance of any nature or kind, engaging in any unlawful or immoral
activities, Lessee shall be in default of this Lease, without the necessity of demand or notice
from Lessor. In the event of such default hereunder, Lessor may elect any remedy at law or
in equity under Vermont law, including the remedy of repossession of the premises.

TERMINATION OF TENANCY: Tenant may not terminate the tenancy created pursuant
to this Lease or otherwise cancel this Lease prior to the expiration of the Term except with
written consent from Landlord. Landlord may terminate Tenant’s tenancy created pursuant to
this Lease as follows:

a. Termination for non-payment of rent. Landlord may terminate the tenancy created
hereunder for non-payment of rent by providing notice to Tenant in accordance with
Vermont law.

b. Termination for breach of rental agreement. Landlord may terminate the tenancy created
hereunder for failure of Tenant to comply with a material term of this Lease or for failure
of Tenant to comply with Tenant’s obligations under Title 9, Chapter 137 of Vermont
Statutes Annotated by providing notice to Tenant in accordance with Vermont law.

c. Termination for other grounds. Landlord may terminate the tenancy created hereunder for
any reason consistent with the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 137 of Vermont Statutes
Annotated by providing notice to Tenant in accordance with Vermont law.

LEGAL FEES, COST OF ENFORCEMENT: In the event of legal action to enforce the
terms of this Lease or the Vermont Residential Rental Agreements Act, Title 9, Subchapter
137 of Vermont Statutes Annotated, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from
the other all reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred in connection with the matter.

TRASH REMOVAL.: Tenant shall be responsible for removing and disposing of his/her own
trash and recycling from the Premises. Tenant may place household trash and recycling in the
trash and recycling facilities associated with the Premises.

MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS: Lessor shall NOT be liable for any maintenance or
repairs to the leased premises including maintenance of the yard, utility services, structural
components, and heating and air conditioning equipment. Any work on or alternations to
the Premises by Tenant shall not be done without the written consent of Landlord.

NOISE/NUISANCE: Tenant shall not create a nuisance in or about the Premises and shall
not cause excessive noise which disturbs adjoining property owners or tenants.

PETS: Pets are not allowed on the Premises.

INSURANCE: Tenant shall be solely responsible for insuring against loss or damage or
injury to Tenant or Tenant’s personal property by theft, fire, flood or other casualty of any
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kind. Landlord encourages Tenant to obtain renter’s insurance to provide coverage for loss,
damage or theft to Tenant’s personal property.

FIRE AND CASUALTY: In the event the Premises are destroyed or damaged by fire or
other unavoidable casualty so that the Premises are thereby rendered unfit for use and
occupancy, then the rent or a just part thereof shall be abated until such times as repairs are
completed according to the nature and extent of the damaged condition for use by Tenant. In
the case of fire or other casualty, Tenant shall provide immediate notice thereof to Landlord
who may repair the Premises or, if the Premises are so damaged that Landlord decides not to
repair, the tenancy hereby created shall cease and no rent shall be due from Tenant for any
period beyond the date of fire or other casualty.

SURRENDER: Tenant shall vacate the Premises upon the expiration of the Term and
leave the Premises in good condition and broom clean reasonable wear and tear excepted.
Tenant shall be responsible for all damage caused to the Premises during the Term. Upon
vacating the Premises, Tenant shall remove all of Tenant’s personal property from the
Premises, at Tenant’s expense.

PERFORMANCE/WAIVER: The failure by Landlord to insist upon the strict
performance of any of the terms, conditions and covenants herein, shall not be deemed a
waiver of any rights or remedies that Landlord may have pursuant to this Lease, and shall
not be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default in the terms, conditions and
covenants herein contained.

LIABILITY: The Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee, or to Lessee’s employees, patrons,
and visitors, or to any other person for any damage or injury to persons or property
occurring on the premises for any reason whatsoever, including, without limitation, damage
or injury resulting from defects on the premises. Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold
Lessor harmless from all claims for injury or damage occurring on the premises or related
to this Lease including, without limitation, claims resulting from defects on the premises.
Lessee has inspected the premises and assumes responsibility for their condition.

JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY OF MULTIPLE TENANTS: Inthe event that
Tenant consists of more than one person, each such person shall be jointly and severally liable
for the terms and conditions of this Lease.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT: Neither the Lessor nor the Lessee nor any of their agents have
made any statements, promises or agreements verbally or in writing in conflict with the
terms of this Agreement. Any and all representations by either of the parties or their agents
made during the provisions hereof shall not be binding upon either of the parties hereto. It
is further agreed that this agreement constitutes the entire, full and complete agreement
between Lessor and Lessee with respect to the Property and supersedes any and all prior
agreements.

OTHER: The failure of Lessor to insist upon the strict performance of the terms,
covenants, agreements and conditions hereby contained, or any of them, shall not constitute
or be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of the Lessor’s right thereafter to enforce any
such terms, covenant, agreement and condition, but the same shall continue in full force and
effect.



26. INTERPRETATION: This Lease and the performance hereof shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of VVermont.

27. EXHIBITS: All exhibits referred to in this Agreement are intended to be and hereby are
specifically made a part of this Agreement: Exhibit A, Federal Contract Provisions, and
Exhibit B, City of Burlington Contract Provisions, if applicable.
The foregoing constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and may be modified only in
writing signed by the parties hereto.

LANDLORD/LESSOR - BURLINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

By:

Name (printed):__ Gene Richards

Title:  Director of Aviation

Dated:

TENANT/LESSEE -

By:

Name (printed):

Dated:

WITNESS: Date:
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Exhibit A
FEDERAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS
(Issued on January 29, 2016)

GENERAL CIVIL RIGHTS PROVISIONS

The contractor agrees to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are
promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex,
age, or disability be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting from
Federal assistance.

This provision binds the contractor and subtier contractors from the bid solicitation period through the
completion of the contract. This provision is in addition to that required of Title VI of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964.

Title VI Solicitation Notice:

The City of Burlington, Burlington International Airport, in accordance with the provisions of Title
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §8 2000d to 2000d-4) and the Regulations,
hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into pursuant to this
advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit
bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or
national origin in consideration for an award.

Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in
interest (hereinafter referred to as the “contractor”) agrees as follows:

1. Compliance with Regulations: The contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) will comply
with the Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities, as they may be
amended from time to time, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this
contract.

2. Non-discrimination: The contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during the
contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in the selection and
retention of subcontractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The
contractor will not participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices when the contract
covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 CFR part 21.

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all
solicitations, either by competitive bidding, or negotiation made by the contractor for work to be
performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each
potential subcontractor or supplier will be notified by the contractor of the contractor’s
obligations under this contract and the Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities on the grounds of
race, color, or national origin.

4. Information and Reports: The contractor will provide all information and reports required by
the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and will permit access to its
books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by



Exhibit A
FEDERAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS
(Issued on January 29, 2016)

the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with
such Nondiscrimination Acts And Authorities and instructions. Where any information required
of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the
information, the contractor will so certify to the sponsor or the Federal Aviation Administration,
as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.

Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of a contractor’s noncompliance with the Non-
discrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such contract sanctions as it or
the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited
to:

a. Withholding payments to the contractor under the contract until the contractor complies;
and/or

b. Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part.

Incorporation of Provisions: The contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs one
through six in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment,
unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations and directives issued pursuant thereto. The contractor
will take action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as the sponsor or the Federal
Aviation Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions
for noncompliance. Provided, that if the contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with
litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, the contractor may request the
sponsor to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of the sponsor. In addition, the
contractor may request the United States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the
United States.

Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities

During the performance of this contract, the contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in
interest (hereinafter referred to as the “contractor’) agrees to comply with the following non-
discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not limited to:

Title V1 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);

49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination In Federally-Assisted Programs of The Department of
Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of The Civil Rights Act of 1964);

The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, (42
U.S.C. 8§ 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has been
acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part 27,

The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.), (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of age);
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e Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as amended,
(prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or sex);

e The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage and
applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms “programs
or activities” to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-
recipients and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not);

o Titles Il and 111 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit discrimination on
the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems,
places of public accommodation, and certain testing entities (42 U.S.C. §8 12131 — 12189) as
implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38;

e The Federal Aviation Administration’s Non-discrimination statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) (prohibits
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex);

o Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority
Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures non-discrimination against minority
populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and
adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations;

e Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English
Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination includes discrimination
because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must
take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70
Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100);

e Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you from
discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq).

FEDERAL FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE)

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the provisions of
29 CFR part 201, the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if
given in full text. The FLSA sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child labor
standards for full and part time workers.

The contractor has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the referenced statute or regulation. The
contractor must address any claims or disputes that arise from this requirement directly with the U.S.
Department of Labor — Wage and Hour Division
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT OF 1970

All contracts and subcontracts that result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the
requirements of 29 CFR Part 1910 with the same force and effect as if given in full text.
Contractor must provide a work environment that is free from recognized hazards that may cause
death or serious physical harm to the employee. The Contractor retains full responsibility to
monitor its compliance and their subcontractor’s compliance with the applicable requirements of
the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (20 CFR Part 1910). Contractor must address
any claims or disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement directly with the U.S. Department
of Labor — Occupational Safety and Health Administration.



Exhibit B - City of Burlington Contract Provisions

1. INDEMNIFICATION

The Contractor will act in an independent capacity and not as officers or employees of the
Municipality. The Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Municipality and
its officers and employees from liability and any claims, suits, expenses, losses, judgments, and
damages arising as a result of the Contractor’s acts and/or omissions in the performance of this
contract. The Municipality is responsible for its own actions. The Contractor is not obligated to
indemnify the Municipality or its officers, agents and employees for any liability of the
Municipality, its officers, agents and employees attributable to its, or their own, negligent acts,
errors or omissions.

In the event the Municipality, its officers, agents or employees are notified of any claims asserted
against it or them to which this Indemnification clause may apply, the Municipality or its
officers, agents and employees shall immediately thereafter notify the Contractor in writing that
a claim to which the Indemnification Agreement may apply has been filed.

2. INSURANCE

GENERAL: Prior to beginning any work the Contractor shall obtain the following insurance
coverage from an insurance company registered and licensed to do business in the State of
Vermont and having an A.M. Best insurance rating of at least A-, financial size category VII or
greater (www.ambest.com). The certificate of insurance coverage shall be documented on forms
acceptable to the Municipality. Evidence of compliance with minimum limits and coverages,
evidenced by a certificate of insurance showing policies and carriers that are acceptable to the
Municipality, must be received prior to the effective date of the Agreement. The insurance
policies shall provide that insurance coverage cannot be canceled or revised without thirty (30)
days prior notice to the Municipality. In the event that this Contract extends to greater than one
year, evidence of continuing coverage must be submitted to the Municipality on an annual
basis. Certified copies of any insurance policies may be required. Each policy (with the
exception of workers compensation) shall name the CITY as an additional insured for the
possible liabilities resulting from the Contractor’s actions or omissions. It is agreed that the
liability insurance furnished by the Contractor is primary and non-contributory for all the
additional insureds.

The Contract